# PUBLIC SCHOOL RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF ST. LOUIS

#### MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES REGULAR MEETING

October 24, 2022

#### I. ROLL CALL AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF A QUORUM

The October meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis (PSRSSTL) was called to order at around 4:37 p.m. on Monday, October 24, 2022. The meeting was conducted by video conference through Zoom and a Livestream on YouTube. Louis Cross, Chairman of the Board of Trustees, was the presiding officer.

Roll Call was taken and Angela Banks, Christina Bennett, Louis Cross, Donna Jones, Yvette Levy, Bobbie Richardson, Albert Sanders, and Dorris Walker were present. The Board of Trustees had a quorum at the meeting. Trustee Sheila Goodwin joined the meeting in progress. Trustees Martel Mann and Justin Stein were absent.

Executive Director Susan Kane and Attorney Representative Matt Gierse were also in attendance.

#### II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM LAST MEETING

Bobbie Richardson made a motion, seconded by Albert Sanders, to approve the minutes of the Regular Board of Trustees Meeting from August 15, 2022. By voice vote, the motion carried.

#### III. READING OF COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

None

#### IV. PRESENTATIONS BY INTERESTED PARTIES

None

#### V. CONSENT AGENDA

Bobbie Richardson made a motion, seconded by Dorris Walker, to approve the Retirements and Benefits of September and October 2022. By voice vote, motion carried.

Bobbie Richardson made a motion, seconded by Dorris Walker, to approve the refunds and bills of August and September 2022. By voice vote, motion carried.

# VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

None

#### VII. REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON

Chairman Cross began by asking for a moment of silence in honor of the students and staff that were killed and injured in the shooting at Central Visual Performing Arts High School earlier that day. In continuing the meeting, he then thanked the Trustees for their support and attendance at all the Board and Committee meetings. Trustee attendance is vital to carrying out the business of the Retirement System.

#### VIII. REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Executive Director announced that she had attended the National Council on Teacher Retirement annual conference in early October along with Trustees Goodwin and Richardson. There was a lot of helpful information shared during the event. She also provided an update on the Chromebooks that will be provided to those Trustees that are requesting a device to access Board meetings and materials. One final issue that needed to be worked out has been resolved so the devices should be ordered soon. The Executive Director mentioned that there is an upcoming election for a non-teacher Trustee position. The first election notice didn't produce any candidates, so a second election notice was mailed. Three individuals recently registered with the System's election commissioner and their eligibility is being verified. Finally, she mentioned that the newsletter and Annual Report Summary were just mailed out to all members. The newsletter now includes the names of those individuals who recently retired.

#### IX. REPORT OF THE INVESTMENT CONSULTANT

None

X. REPORT OF THE ACTUARY

None

#### XI. REPORTS OF COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

#### **Benefits Committee**

Benefits Co-Chair Richardson mentioned that open enrollment would start soon. There would be six virtual open enrollment sessions explaining the benefits available to retirees. She also announced that two new benefits would be offered this year. Prepaid legal and identity theft protection are optional benefits for retirees with coverage effective January 1, 2023.

## **Trustee Business Committee**

Trustee Business Committee Co-Chair Goodwin said she was interested in making a change regarding the procedures for Trustee Elections if no candidate registers. She noted that duplicate mailings are expensive. After attending the NCTR conference and observing those in attendance, she would also like to see the next generation of PSRSSTL members become more involved with the System.

## **Investment Committee**

Investment Co-Chair Sanders made a motion, seconded by Trustee Richardson, to submit a full redemption request from the Trumbull Property Fund managed by UBS Asset Management, as recommended by the Investment Committee at a meeting on October 20, 2022. A roll call vote was taken.

Christina Bennett	Yes	Louis Cross	Yes	Sheila Goodwin	Yes
Donna Jones	Yes	Yvette Levy	Yes	Bobbie Richardson	Yes
A II A O I	\/	D! - \\\ - II	\/		

Albert Sanders Yes Dorris Walker Yes

The motion carried with eight yes votes.

# Legislative, Rules & Regulations Committee

Trustee Sanders made a motion, seconded by Dorris Walker, to accept the Amendments to the Rules and Regulations as recommended by the Legislative, Rules & Regulation Committee at a meeting on September 28, 2022.

A roll call vote was taken.

Christina Bennett	Yes	Louis Cross	Yes	Sheila Goodwin	Yes
Donna Jones	Yes	Yvette Levy	Yes	Bobbie Richardson	Yes
Albert Sanders	Yes	Dorris Walker	Yes		

The motion carried with eight yes votes.

Trustee Sanders made a motion, seconded by Bobbie Richardson, to approve the Policy for Locating Missing Member Data and Missing Members and Beneficiaries as recommended by the Legislative, Rules & Regulation Committee at a meeting on September 28, 2022.

A roll call vote was taken.

Christina Bennett	Yes	Louis Cross	Yes	Sheila Goodwin	Yes
Donna Jones	Yes	Yvette Levy	Yes	Bobbie Richardson	Yes
Albert Sanders	Yes	Dorris Walker	Yes		

The motion carried with eight yes votes.

## **Personnel & Professional Contracts Committee**

This report would be covered under the report of the attorney in closed session.

## XII. NEW BUSINESS

None

#### XIII. REPORT OF THE ATTORNEY

Albert Sanders made the motion to close the meeting, and that all records and votes, to the extent permitted by law, pertaining to and/or resulting from this closed meeting be closed under R.S.MO § 610.021 (1) and (12) for the purpose of having a confidential or privileged communication with the legal counsel for the PSRSSTL on legal matters.

Bobbie Richardson seconded the motion.

Christina Bennett	Yes	Louis Cross	Yes	Sheila Goodwin	Yes
Donna Jones	Yes	Yvette Levy	Yes	Bobbie Richardson	Yes
Albert Sanders	Yes	Dorris Walker	Yes		

The motion carried with eight yes votes and the meeting continued in closed session.

During closed session, the Trustees voted on two motions.

Albert Sanders made a motion, seconded by Dorris Walker, to retain Audit services from Anders for a three-year period beginning January 1, 2023, and ending December 31, 2025, with options to renew annually, according to the specifications in the RFP and the firm's initial or final proposal.

Christina Bennett	Yes	Louis Cross	Yes	Sheila Goodwin	Yes
Donna Jones	Yes	Yvette Levy	Yes	Bobbie Richardson	Yes
Albert Sanders	Yes	Dorris Walker	Yes		

The motion carried with eight yes votes

Albert Sanders made a motion, seconded by Dorris Walker to authorize the Executive Director to meet and negotiate with the Property Management RFP bidders to retain the services of one firm for Property management services for a three-year period beginning January 1, 2023, and ending December 31, 2025 with options to renew annually according to the specifications in the RFP and the firm's initial or final proposal, subject to final Board approval at the December Board meeting.

A roll call vote was taken.

Christina Bennett	Yes	Louis Cross	Yes	Sheila Goodwin	Yes
Donna Jones	Yes	Yvette Levy	Yes	Bobbie Richardson	Yes
Albert Sanders	Yes	Dorris Walker	Yes		

The motion carried with eight yes votes

After the closed meeting discussion, Albert Sanders made a motion to open the meeting pursuant to R. S. Mo. §610.021. The motion was seconded by Bobbie Richardson.

A roll call vote was taken.

Christina Bennett	Yes	Louis Cross	Yes	Sheila Goodwin	Yes
Donna Jones	Yes	Yvette Levy	Yes	Bobbie Richardson	Yes
Albert Sanders	Yes	Dorris Walker	Yes		

The motion carried with eight yes votes.

#### XIV. ADJOURNMENT

Before adjournment, Trustee Jones announced that there would be a vigil that evening at 6:30 p.m. at Tower Grove Park for those killed and injured in the shooting earlier that day.

Albert Sanders made a motion, seconded by Bobbie Richardson, to adjourn the meeting. By voice vote, motion carried, and the meeting adjourned at around 5:48 p.m.

#### Attachments:

Retirement & Benefit: September and October 2022 Refunds & Bills: August and September 2022 Rules and Regulations—October 24, 2022

# Distributions - August , 2022

П			1				CTATUC	REASON	1
					FEDERAL		STATUS	REASON	
OLIFOK	OHEOK			ODO00		NET	Λ / -4 <sup>1</sup> \	D/41-)	
CHECK	CHECK	LACTALANE	FIDOT NAME (MAI	GROSS	TAXES	NET	A(ctive)	D(eath)	NOTEO
NUMBER	DATE	LAST NAME	FIRST NAME/MI	(B+C)	W/H	PAY		S(eparation)	
078983	08/23/22	BEEZLEY-FORD	SHERI E	20,350.00	4,070.00	16,280.00	A		DEC: D BEEZLEY
078878	07/22/22	CARTER	KELLY	(27,397.27)		(27,397.27)	A	S	VOID AND REISSUE
078984	08/23/22	CARTER	KELLY	5,000.00	1,000.00	4,000.00	A	S	VOID AND REISSUE
078985	08/23/22	CARTER	KELLY	22,397.27		22,397.27	A	S	VOID AND REISSUE
078986	08/23/22	MAYES	JEREMY E	15,454.46	3,090.89	12,363.57	A	D	DEC: A MAYES
078987	08/23/22	POGUE	NICOLE	106,041.76	10,604.18	95,437.58	R	D	DEC: P POGUE
078988	08/26/22	ADAMS	ELISHA	17,296.50	3,459.30	13,837.20	A		KIPP
078989	08/26/22	ALDRED	TIMOTHY	12,568.64		12,568.64	A		KIPP
078990	08/26/22	ARMSTRONG	ALTON	8,355.40	1,671.08	6,684.32	A		KIPP
078991	08/26/22	BALL	ANTHONY	4,136.68	827.34	3,309.34	A	S	
078992	08/26/22	BEAN	RUTH	15,875.98		15,875.98	A	S	
078993	08/26/22	BEASLEY	HEATHER V	90,059.99		90,059.99	A	S	
078994	08/26/22	BELL-GREENOUGH	AMANDA	24,897.14	4,979.43	19,917.71	A	S	EAGLE/MOM
078995	08/26/22	BLOE	DESMOND	7,829.43	1,565.89	6,263.54	A	S	
078996	08/26/22	BROOKS	DESHANNON	3,416.66	683.33	2,733.33	A	S	LSMS SLPS
078997	08/26/22	BRUNETTI	TIMOTHY	13,839.48		13,839.48	A	S	
078998	08/26/22	CAMP	ELLA	5,039.20	1,007.84	4,031.36	A	S	KIPP
078999	08/26/22	CAROLLO	PAUL	16,561.37	3,312.27	13,249.10	A	S	
079000	08/26/22	CHEW	KAMRYN	3,921.00	784.20	3,136.80	A	S	NSCS
079001	08/26/22	CHRISTOPHERSON	GAVIN	12,804.68	2,560.94	10,243.74	A	S	
079002	08/26/22	CLATTO	CHIP	6,836.01	1,367.20	5,468.81	A	S	LPA
079003	08/26/22	CLAYBON	TINISHA	15,777.66	3,155.53	12,622.13	A	S	
079004	08/26/22	COLE	C ANTHONY	3,092.32	618.46	2,473.86	A	S	KIPP
079006	08/26/22	CRIVELLO	SUSAN	17,939.32	3,587.86	14,351.46	A	S	GCAA CA PREC
079005	08/26/22	CRIVELLO	SUSAN	3,328.73		3,328.73	A	S	GCAA CA PREC
079007	08/26/22	CULPEPPER	MICHAEL	13,051.75	2,610.35	10,441.40	A	S	LFL
079008	08/26/22	DICKHERBER	STEVEN	18,205.92	•	18,205.92	A	S	KIPP
079009	08/26/22	DOWDY	KATIE	9,682.69		9,682.69	A	S	
079010	08/26/22	DUPART	LINDA J	28,946.11	5,789.22	23,156.89	A	S	
079011	08/26/22	FOOTE	MARC	14,901.92	2,980.38	11,921.54	A	S	
079012	08/26/22	GAINES	SHEIMEKA	2,221.11	444.22	1,776.89	A	S	
079013	08/26/22	GILBERT	ANNETTE	33,521.96	6,704.39	26,817.57	A	S	
079014	08/26/22	GREEN	TERRA	15,304.97	3,060.99	12,243.98	A	S	KIPP
079015	08/26/22	GRUBER	CHRISTINE	3,731.49	746.30	2,985.19	A	S	
079016	08/26/22	GRUBER	CHRISTINE	10,000.00		10,000.00	A	S	
079017	08/26/22	HARVEY	LATASHA N	6,567.62	1,313.52	5,254.10	A	S	
079018	08/26/22	HINES	CATHY	19,535.80	1,010.02	19,535.80	A	S	
079019	08/26/22	HINTON	KIM	13,052.33	2,610.47	10,441.86	A	S	
079020	08/26/22	KESTER	JARED	4,499.39	899.88	3,599.51	A	S	
079021	08/26/22	LAWLER	STEVEN	42,134.09	8,426.82	33,707.27	A	S	
0/9041	00/40/44	LEINER	OITATIA	74,134.09	0,440.84	33,/07.27	А	3	

# Distributions - August , 2022

							OT 4 TUO	DEAGON	
							STATUS	REASON	
					FEDERAL		l	_,	
CHECK	CHECK			GROSS	TAXES	NET	A(ctive)	D(eath)	
NUMBER	DATE	LAST NAME	FIRST NAME/MI	(B+C)	W/H	PAY		S(eparation)	NOTES
079022	08/26/22	LINDNER	SIERRA	5,229.88	1,045.98	4,183.90	A	S	
079023	08/26/22	LONG	RICHARD	8,777.69	1,755.54	7,022.15	A	S	KIPP
079024	08/26/22	MASSEY	RACHEL	7,934.06	1,586.81	6,347.25	A	S	PREM
079025	08/26/22	MCKEE	ERIN	17,854.88		17,854.88	A	S	
079026	08/26/22	MCKINNEY	RUAN	23,400.15	4,680.03	18,720.12	A	S	
079027	08/26/22	MYERS	MELISSA	9,038.64		9,038.64	A	S	
079028	08/26/22	PAYNE	LANOR E	9,530.31	1,906.06	7,624.25	A	S	CGMCS SLPS
079029	08/26/22	PENNINGTON	CASSIE E	123,188.17	24,637.63	98,550.54	A	S	
079030	08/26/22	POYFAIR	JASON	1,438.24	287.65	1,150.59	A	S	
079031	08/26/22	PRUITT	TERRI	1,424.67		1,424.67	A	S	KIPP
079032	08/26/22	REED	DOMINQUE	3,987.39	797.48	3,189.91	A	S	
079033	08/26/22	REED	MAVERICK	25,888.39	5,177.68	20,710.71	A	S	
079034	08/26/22	RICHMANN	ROBERT	1,653.72	330.74	1,322.98	A	S	
079035	08/26/22	RIEDER	ZACHARY	13,432.19	2,686.44	10,745.75	A	S	
079036	08/26/22	RIES	SHERRI	61,749.24		61,749.24	A	S	
079037	08/26/22	SCIARONI	MARIA	13,749.90		13,749.90	A	S	
079038	08/26/22	SHAW	ARTHUR M	39,340.00	7,868.00	31,472.00	A	S	
079039	08/26/22	SILZLE	CHRISTOPHER	4,829.76	965.95	3,863.81	A	S	KIPP
079040	08/26/22	SIMMONS	TAMARA	34,402.66	6,880.53	27,522.13	A	S	SLPS NSCS
079041	08/26/22	STRAW	MYA	16,506.75	3,301.35	13,205.40	A	S	KIPP
079042	08/26/22	TOYOTA	JAKE	8,949.00	1,789.80	7,159.20	A	S	
079043	08/26/22	TRIESCHMANN	LAURA	38,506.47		38,506.47	A	S	
079044	08/26/22	VELASQUEZ	SARAH	9,525.56		9,525.56	A	S	
079045	08/26/22	WAHLQUIST	HAMMADAH	4,945.66	989.13	3,956.53	A	S	
079046	08/26/22	WALKER	TERRELL	2,703.10	540.62	2,162.48	A	S	EAGLE/MOM
079047	08/26/22	WARR	MARC	35,567.71		35,567.71	A	S	
079048	08/26/22	WEAVER	TIARA	9,701.10	1,940.22	7,760.88	A	S	EAGLE/MOM
079049	08/26/22	WEST	MELANIE D	10,108.58	2,021.72	8,086.86	A	S	
079050	08/26/22	WHEELER	DONTAE	26,505.61	5,301.12	21,204.49	A	S	KIPP SLPS
079051	08/26/22	WHEELER	MICHAEL S	13,997.15	2,799.43	11,197.72	A	S	SLLIS
079052	08/26/22	WILLIAMS	IFE	20,537.22	4,107.44	16,429.78	A	S	KIPP
079053	08/26/22	WILSON	SAMANTHA	30,769.70	6,153.94	24,615.76	A	S	
079054	08/26/22	WOLFE	ASPEN	1,114.87	222.97	891.90	A	S	
				Í					
			TOTAL	\$ 1,297,067.98	\$ 173,706.54	\$ 1,123,361.44			

# Distributions - September, 2022

						<u>*                                    </u>	STATUS	REASON	
					FEDERAL				
CHECK	CHECK			GROSS	TAXES	NET	A(ctive)	D(eath)	
NUMBER	DATE	LAST NAME	FIRST NAME/MI	(B+C)	W/H	PAY	R(etired)	S(eparation)	NOTES
071433	03/04/16	PRITCHETT	NICHOLE	(20,730.07)		(20,730.07)	A	S	STL VOID AND REISSUE 2015
079077	09/14/22	PRITCHETT	NICHOLE	20,730.07		20,730.07	A	S	STL VOID AND REISSUE 2016
079104	09/23/22	ALFRED	JANAE	3,907.72	781.54	3,126.18	A	S	CGMS
079105	09/23/22	ANDREWS	CHANDRA	5,179.80		5,179.80	Α	S	
079106	09/23/22	ASHLEY	LUCIANA	2,222.60	444.52	1,778.08	A	S	LFL
079107	09/23/22	BALTZ	ABBY	12,492.39	2,498.48	9,993.91	Α	S	
079108	09/23/22	BEEMER	RICHARD	8,951.49	1,790.30	7,161.19	A	S	
079109	09/23/22	BELL	SHEREESE	17,444.02	3,488.80	13,955.22	A	S	CA
079110	09/23/22	BONO	MICHAEL	19,114.61		19,114.61	A	S	GSASTL
079111	09/23/22	BROWN	BENJAMIN W	8,784.76	1,756.95	7,027.81	A	S	CA
079112	09/23/22	CAMPBELL	DEANDRE	44,526.68	8,905.34	35,621.34	A	S	
079113	09/23/22	COLLINS	FRANK	2,389.89	477.98	1,911.91	A	S	EAGLE
079114	09/23/22	COOK	KAREN	4,059.65	811.93	3,247.72	Α	S	
079115	09/23/22	CORNMAN	AMY	12,581.41		12,581.41	A	S	
079116	09/23/22	COUNTS	JENNIFER	16,390.48	3,278.10	13,112.38	Α	S	CA
079117	09/23/22	DANZA	ARIEL	19,987.42		19,987.42	A	S	CGMC
079118	09/23/22	DONEGAN JR	WILLIAM	11,689.79	2,337.96	9,351.83	A	S	KIPP SLPS
079119	09/23/22	ELPHAGE	MARIO	967.22	193.44	773.78	A	S	
079120	09/23/22	ENSERINK	JENNIFER A	17,144.36	3,428.87	13,715.49	A	S	
079121	09/23/22	ENTZEROTH	NICOLE	9,038.64		9,038.64	A	S	
079122	09/23/22	FORD	JOCELYN	14,477.12	2,895.42	11,581.70	Α	S	
079123	09/23/22	FREDWELL	DANA	11,278.47	2,255.69	9,022.78	A	S	PAIDEA IESM AQS-C
079124	09/23/22	GREEN	YVONNE L	57,967.14		57,967.14	A	S	
079125	09/23/22	GRIFFIN	ADRIAN	15,480.90	3,096.18	12,384.72	A	S	
079126	09/23/22	GROSS	LINDSEY	7,446.99		7,446.99	Α	S	GSASTL
079127	09/23/22	HALBERT	CARA L	3,971.48	794.30	3,177.18	A	S	TACS
079128	09/23/22	HEAD-TUCKER	SELETHA	14,297.01	2,859.40	11,437.61	Α	S	KIPP LFL
079129	09/23/22	HOLMES	MONICA	6,959.41	1,391.88	5,567.53	A	S	
079130	09/23/22	HUGHEY	LANA	8,951.34	1,790.27	7,161.07	A	S	CA
079131	09/23/22	JACKSON	ERIN	21,125.35	4,225.07	16,900.28	A	S	ATLAS SLPS
079132	09/23/22	JONES	MELISSA	8,617.08		8,617.08	A	S	SLLIS
079133	09/23/22	KIRIKCI	MUSTAFA	14,892.52		14,892.52	A	S	GSASTL
079134	09/23/22	KRULJAC	CHARLES	13,119.52		13,119.52	Α	S	KIPP
079135	09/23/22	MARIETTA	MEGAN	61,116.12		61,116.12	Α	S	
079136	09/23/22	MARINEZ-WOODS	JORI	32,092.54	6,418.51	25,674.03	Α	S	CGMC
079137	09/23/22	MCCLELLAND	SAMANTHA	18,536.61	3,707.32	14,829.29	A	S	STL/PREM
079138	09/23/22	MCELMURRY	JOSIAH	1,539.54	307.91	1,231.63	A	S	NSCS
079139	09/23/22	MILLER	VERNITA	211.47	42.29	169.18	A	S	
079140	09/23/22	MONTGOMERY	TOMISHA	19,287.40	3,857.48	15,429.92	A	S	

# Distributions - September, 2022

						<u> </u>	STATUS	REASON	
					FEDERAL				
CHECK	CHECK			GROSS	TAXES	NET	A(ctive)	D(eath)	
NUMBER	DATE	LAST NAME	FIRST NAME/MI	(B+C)	W/H	PAY	R(etired)	S(eparation)	NOTES
079141	09/23/22	PIPKIN	SAMANTHA	1,107.51		1,107.51	A	S	CGMC
079142	09/23/22	PITTMAN	RASHIDA	9,421.77		9,421.77	A	S	
079143	09/23/22	ROBINSON	MALISSA Y	12,000.00	2,400.00	9,600.00	A	S	
079144	09/23/22	ROBINSON	MALISSA Y	11,357.06		11,357.06	A	S	
079145	09/23/22	ROSS	ROBIRDA	5,708.60	1,141.72	4,566.88	A	S	
079146	09/23/22	ROSS	ROBIRDA	15,000.00		15,000.00	A	S	
079147	09/23/22	SANCHEZ	SARAH E	4,600.40	920.08	3,680.32	A	S	STL/PREM
079148	09/23/22	SHIVERS	TRARON	9,038.64	1,807.73	7,230.91	A	S	
079149	09/23/22	SIMPSON	CHLOE D	37,951.64	7,590.33	30,361.31	A	S	
079150	09/23/22	TATE WARD	BARBARA	4,567.72	913.54	3,654.18	A	S	KIPP
079151	09/23/22	TUTWILER	AUBREY	12,256.28	2,451.26	9,805.02	A	S	
079152	09/23/22	WATSON	DANIELLE	19,451.38	3,890.28	15,561.10	A	S	
079153	09/23/22	WHITE	SHONTA	5,000.18	1,000.04	4,000.14	A	S	
079154	09/23/22	WOOLSEY	ROSS A	22,407.96		22,407.96	A	S	NSCS
079155	09/23/22	WRIGHT	JASMINE	9,218.61	1,843.72	7,374.89	A	S	KIPP
079156	09/23/22	ZUBI	SARA O	9,215.71		9,215.71	A	S	
			TOTAL	\$ 736,544.40	\$ 87,794.63	\$ 648,749.77			

Checks Written During the Month of August, 2022							
Payee	Ck. Number	Description	Amount				
Date Paid August 5, 2022							
Ameren Missouri	78931	Electric Service	3,112.32				
ACC Business	78932	Telephone Fiberoptics	594.67				
Charter Communications	78933	Charter Internet and Voice	219.96				
Republic Services #346	78934	Trash Pick-Up	306.29				
Clayton Parking	78935	August 2022 Parking - 2 Employees	146.00				
Office Essentials	78936	Office Supplies	833.49				
pecallty Mailing	78937	Daily Pick-Up	220.00				
lartnett Reyes-Jones, L.L.C.	78938	Legal Fees	9,084.25				
uildingStars STL Operations, Inc.	78939	Janitorial Services	2,772.00				
ITS Scanning Solutions	78940	Imaging Hosting/Scanned Images July 2022	776.98				
teri cycle, Inc.	78941	Document Shredding	134.58				
ech Electronics, Inc.	78942	Replace Card Reader On Outside Door	748.42				
rthur J. Gallagher Risk Mgmt. Services, Inc	78943	Administration Fee	15,000.00				
dvanced Medical Reviews	78944	Med. Reviews Cheryl Lampkin, Emmet Costello	643.50				
usan Kane	78945	Birthday Cards/ Mini Teddy Bears For Retirees	111.92				
obbie Richardson	78946	Reimbursement - NASP Annual Conference	262.01				
obbie Richardson	78947	Reimbursement - MAPERS Conference	847.59				
BRE - 608844	78948	Building Management Fee - July 2022	1,228.29				
BRE - 608844	78949	Engineer Services	502.13				
ARNEST Partners, LLC	78950	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	6,881.22				
he Edgar Lomax Company	78951	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	75,066.05				
NTECH Investment Management LLC	78952	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	25,897.40				
Manulife Investment Management U.S. LLC	78953	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	27,009.97				
CW Asset Management Company	78954	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	46,528.08				
Vestfield Capital Management Company, LP	78955	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	58,584.91				
ponance, Inc.	78956	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	65,918.59				
ponance, Inc.	78957	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	8,909.50				
pard of Education St. Louis Benefits Trust	78958	Office Employees Insurance - Dental	189.56				
oard of Education St. Louis Benefits Trust	78959	Office Employees Insurance - Vision	12.78				
oard of Education St. Louis Benefits Trust	78960	Office Employees Insurance - Life	173.60				
ate Paid August 12, 2022							
	4011	Office Devell	11,598.37				
Office Payroll	ACH	Office Payroll	1,800.00				
XA Equitable	ACH	457 Contributions Payroll Processing Fee	59.95				
ntegrated Payroll Services (IPS)	ACH	Reimbursement - Legislative Trip, J.C. MO	163.38				
ouis C. Cross III ouis C. Cross III	78961 78962	Reimbursement - NASP Conference	1,088.51				
ouis C. Cross III	78963	Reimbursement - MAPERS Conference	798.90				
	70800	TOTAL STREET,	. 55.56				
ate Paid August 22, 2022							
bsopure Water Company	78964	Water Cooler Service	29.90				
lade Technologies, Inc.	78965	Professional Services	2,750.89				
allagher Benefit Services, Inc.	78966	Group Ins. Consulting Services Monthly Fee	3,320.25				
allagher Benefit Services, Inc.	78967	Design & Creation of PSRSSTL Annual Report	10,000.00				
onika Minolta Business Solutions USA Inc.	78968	Service for Copier C3601, C364E	330.91				
urchase Power	78969	Postage	1,600.00				
uck Global, LLC	78970	Actuarial & Consulting Services - July 2022	9,478.50				
SD	78971	Sewer Service	59.72				
itel	78972	Telephone Service	289.95				
pecialty Mailing	78973	Postage - Open Enrollment Postcards	947.49				
idwest Elevator Co., Inc.	78974	Monthly Maintenance	352.00				
linuteman Press	78975	Audit Report, Open Enrollment Postcards	2,276.80				
artnett Reyes-Jones L.L.C.	78976	Legal Fees	6,979.50				
ech Electronics, Inc.	78977	Monitoring of Fire and Security Alarm	360.00				
K Elevator Corporation	78978	Repairs	431.00 328.00				
.N.S. Inc.	78979	Window Washing Reimbursement - NPPFA Conference	328.00				
orris J. Walker overnment Finance Officers Association	78980 78981	Conference Registrations	700.00				
auseway Capital Management LLC	78982	2nd Quarter 2022 Management Fee	69,501.04				

Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis Checks Written During the Month of August, 2022					
Payee Date Paid August 26, 2022	Ck. Number	Description	Amount		
Office Payroll	ACH	Office Payroll	11,598.38		
AXA Equitable	ACH	457 Contributions	1,800.00		
Integrated Payroll Services	ACH	Payroll Processing Fee	66.95		
		TOTAL	\$491,733.09		

Payee	Ck. Number	Description	Amount
Date Paid September 6, 2022	2 110111001	The state of the s	
	-	Electric Occident	0.740.55
meren Missouri	79055	Electric Service	2,749.55
CC Business	79056	Telephone Fiberoptics Charter Internet and Voice	219.96
harter Communications	79057 79058	Trash Pick-Up	305.60
epublic Services #346	79059	September 2022 Parking - 2 Employees	146.00
layton Parking	79060	Office Supplies	744.29
office Essentials	79061	Electon Notice	2.390.63
pecallty Mailing	79062	Booklet Envelopes	841.50
finuteman Press	79063	Programming Consulting	4,851.00
upiter Consulting Services, LLC	79064	Lease Charges	1,256.22
Pitney Bowes Global Financial Services LLC	79065	GASB 68	3,000.00
nders CPAs & Advisors			155.61
ustin Stein	79066	Visit With State Legislators NCTR Trustee Workshop	2,757.79
ngela Banks	79067	Building Management Fee - August 2022	1,228.29
BRE - 608844	79068		1,228.29
BRE - 608844	79069	Engineer Services	46.00
lue Chip Pest Services	79070	Pest Control	+
t. Louis Mat & Lines Company	79071	Floor Mats	104.00 2.900.00
each Painting Company	79072	Painting of Outdoor Railings	
rainger	79073	Supplies	173.90
oard of Education St. Louis Benefits Trust	79074	Office Employees Insurance - Dental Office Employees Insurance - Vision	189.56
oard of Education St. Louis Benefits Trust	79075		173.60
oard of Education St. Louis Benefits Trust	79076	Office Employees Insurance - Life	173.60
ate Paid September 9, 2022			
ffice Payroll	ACH	Office Payroll	11,598.37
XA Equitable	ACH	457 Contributions	1,800.00
tegrated Payroll Services (IPS)	ACH	Payroll Processing Fee	59.95
ate Paid September 19, 2022			
	70070	DC Workstation	2,299.99
icro Center	79078	PC Workstation	2,299.99
ate Paid September 20, 2022			
osopure Water Company	79079	Water Cooler Service	12.00
ade Technologies, Inc.	79080	Professional Services	2,921.64
allagher Benefit Services, Inc.	79081	Group Ins. Consulting Services Monthly Fee	3,320.25
onika Minolta Business Solutions USA Inc.	79082	Service for Copier C360I, C364E	232.85
ırchase Power	79083	Postage	1,000.00
uck Global, LLC	79084	Actuarial & Consulting Services - August 2022	8,416.00
SD	79085	Sewer Service	59.72
litel	79086	Telephone Service	313.33
pecialty Mailing	79087	Service - Open Enrollment Postcards	384.74
idwest Elevator Co., Inc.	79088	Monthly Maintenance	352.00
linuteman Press	79089	Window Envelopes - Annual Benefit Statements	457.50
artnett Reyes-Jones L.L.C.	79090	Legal Fees	11,280.00
uildingStars STL Operations, Inc.	79091	Janitorial Services and Supplies	2,610.12
ITS Scanning Solutions	79092	Imaging Hosting and Scanning for August 2022	559.90
ffice Essentials	79093	Office Supplies	361.23
regory F.X. Daly, Collector of Revenue	79094	Water - City	107.64
andy Elam	79095	Adobe Pro Annual Renewal	407.76 226.80
obbie Richardson	79096	Reimbursement - NPPFA Conference NCTR Annual Conference Registration For 5	5,385.00
CTR	79097	Repair Third Floor Stairwell Door	201.00
oor Services, Inc.	79098		14.00
tal Records	79099	Death Certificate  Ruilding Management Fee - September 2022	1,228.29
BRE - 608844	79100	Building Mamagement Fee - September 2022 Pest Control	46.00
ue Chip Pest Services	79101		104.00
Louis Mat & Lined Company	79102 79103	Floor Mats Semi-Annual Preventative Maintenance Check	952.00
nrell Mechanical Contractors	19103	Centralities Fleveniante Mantichance Clieby	302.00
ate Paid September 23, 2022		Off. D	44 500 00
ffice Payroll	ACH	Office Payroll	11,598.38
XA Equitable	ACH	457 Contributions	1,800.00
ntegrated Payroll Services	ACH 70157	Payroll Processing Fee	66.95 2,610.02
pecialty Mailing	79157	Postage - Annual Benefit Statements	2,010.02
		TOTAL	\$98,311.88

# Rules and Regulations

October 24, 2022

Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis

# PUBLIC SCHOOL RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF ST. LOUIS

# **RULES AND REGULATIONS – October 24, 2022**

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# **RULES**

CHAPTER A	Organization	
Rule I.	Trustees	3
Rule II.	Officers	3
Rule III.	Duties of Officers	4
Rule IV.	Election of Officers	4
Rule V.	Removal from Office	4
Rule VI.	Committees	4
Rule VII.	Medical Board	5
Rule VIII.	Executive Director	5
Rule IX.	Rules of Order	6
Rule X.	Election of Trustees and Procedures for Elections	7
Rule XI.	Open Meetings and Records	11
Rule XII.	Regulation of Conflicts of Interest	
Rule XIII.	Amendment of Rules	11
Rule XIV.	Investment Policies	11
Rule XV.	Principles	15
CHAPTER B	Benefits	
Rule I.	Credited Service and Age	17
Rule II.	Payment of Fractional Benefits	18
Rule III.	Correction of Errors	18
Rule IV.	Limitation of Benefits	18
Rule V.	Tax Sheltered Annuities	19
Rule VI.	Calculation of Compensation	19
Rule VII.	Definition of Years of Service	19
Rule VIII.	Purchase of Service Credit	20
Rule IX.	Factor Tables for Optional Benefits	20
Rule X.	Expense and Contingency Reserve	
Rule XI.	Insurance Program for Retirees	21
Rule XII.	Disability Benefits	21
Rule XIII.	Issuing Trust-to-Trust Transfers	22
Rule XIV.	Missouri Reciprocity	22
Rule XV.	Uncashed Monthly Benefit Checks	23
	REGULATIONS	
Regulation I.	Amendment of Regulations	24
Regulation II.	Medical Board	
Regulation III.	Governance of Employees of the Retirement System	25
Regulation IV.	Leave of Absence and Employee Attendance	
Regulation V.	Information Required for Optional Benefits	
Regulation VI.	Availability of Minutes of Meetings of Board of Trustees	
Regulation VII.	Counsel to the Board of Trustees	30
Regulation VIII.	Deferred Compensation Plan	30
Table A	Option Beneficiary Factors	31
Appendix A	Education, Travel, Code of Ethics Policies, Document, and Missing Me	embers/Beneficiaries
Appendix B	Expense and Contingency Reserve Policy	

# PUBLIC SCHOOL RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF ST. LOUIS

# RULES AND REGULATIONS - October 24, 2022

**WHEREAS,** the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis was established pursuant to Section 169.410 to 169.540, R.S.Mo. 1978, as amended; and

**WHEREAS,** a board of trustees was created to administer such system and is empowered to issue rules and regulations for the transaction of business;

**NOW, THEREFORE,** the following rules and regulations are hereby adopted by said Board of Trustees.

#### **RULES**

#### CHAPTER A. ORGANIZATION

#### Rule I. - Trustees

- **Section 1.** Six (6) Members of the Board of Trustees shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.
- Section 2. The Board of Trustees shall hold regular meetings every other month, (in February, April, June, August, October and December), and at such times as may be necessary on call of the Chairperson or three Members of the Board upon due and reasonable notice. The date and hour of such meetings shall be fixed by the Chairperson or those calling the meeting. Unless the notice of meeting shall specify another location all meetings shall be held at the office of the Retirement System. Meetings may be held in person or by video conference in compliance with applicable law.

The Board of Trustees is authorized to hold special or emergency meetings on the call of the Chairperson or three Members of the Board. Such emergency or special meetings may be held telephonically or by videoconference. In circumstances in which special or emergency meetings are held by telephone or videoconference, arrangements shall be made at the Retirement System's office for the public to hear or view the special or emergency meeting.

**Section 3.** The Board of Trustees shall be authorized to attend meetings and educational conferences related to retirement. The reasonable costs and expenses of attending such meetings and conferences shall be paid by the Retirement System pursuant to the Education, Travel, and Code of Ethics Policy, contained in Appendix A to these Rules and Regulations.

#### Rule II. - Officers

- **Section 1.** The officers of the Board of Trustees shall consist of a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may designate.
- **Section 2.** Duties such as preparation of minutes of the meetings of the Board of Trustees and its committees and record maintenance, which are typically performed by an organization's secretary, shall be the responsibility of the Executive Director or a staff person designated by the Executive Director; however, the Executive Director or the staff person designated by the Executive Director shall not be a Member or Officer of the Board of Trustees.
- **Section 3.** Individuals who are employees of the Retirement System are not eligible to sit as trustees due to the apparent conflict of interest.

#### Rule III. - Duties of Officers

- **Section 1.** The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Trustees.
- **Section 2.** The Vice Chairperson shall have all the powers and perform all the duties of the Chairperson in the absence of the Chairperson.
- **Section 3.** The Treasurer shall be the custodian of all funds, and perform such other duties as are prescribed by the law or are usual to that office. The Treasurer shall give bond in such amount as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees, and the cost therefore shall be paid out of the expense fund. The books and papers relating to the office of the Treasurer shall be kept and maintained at the office of the Retirement System.
- **Section 4.** Emergency Action. The Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson and the Treasurer are authorized and empowered to act on behalf of the Board of Trustees with respect to any administrative action reasonably determined by them to be an emergency which should not be deferred until the next meeting of the Board of Trustees, provided that no financial commitment of expenditure in the sum of more than \$10,000 shall be made as an emergency measure. Any such action taken by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Treasurer shall be reported to, ratified, and approved by the Board of Trustees at its next regular meeting.

For the purpose of considering any such action, the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Treasurer shall meet at the office of the Retirement System. Any of them may participate in such meeting by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting in this manner shall constitute presence in person at the meeting. Any such action taken by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Treasurer shall be reported to, ratified, and approved by the Board of Trustees at its next regular meeting.

#### Rule IV. - Election of Officers

- **Section 1.** The Chairperson and Vice Chairperson of the Board of Trustees shall be elected at the last regularly scheduled meeting each year and shall serve for one calendar year or until their successors are duly elected.
- **Section 2.** The Treasurer shall be elected at the regular October meeting in each odd numbered year for a two-year term of office which shall commence January 1 the succeeding even numbered year. The Treasurer can be any Trustee other than the elected Chairperson or Vice Chairperson

#### Rule V. - Removal from Office

**Section 1.** Any officer may be removed for cause as determined by the Board of Trustees during the officer's term of office by two-thirds vote of all Members of the Board of Trustees, upon due and reasonable notice and hearing. Inefficiency, violation of the law or rules governing the Retirement System, or physical or mental conditions which incapacitate an officer from performing the duties of his/her office shall be cause for removal from office.

#### Rule VI. - Committees

Section 1. No later than the February Regular Board Meeting of each year, the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees shall establish such Committees to serve for the current year for such purposes as the Chairperson deems appropriate; and the Chairperson may dissolve any Committee so appointed with

the approval of the Board of Trustees. Each such Committee shall be charged with the duty to meet and recommend action to the Board of Trustees on matters within the scope of the Committee's purpose, but shall have no authority to take action on behalf of the Board of Trustees. If the February Regular Board Meeting deadline is not adhered to by the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees, then the Vice Chairperson shall establish such Committees to allow the continuance of business. However, if because of unforeseen circumstances, a Committee needs to be established after the February Regular Board Meeting deadline the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees may later establish such a Committee with the approval of the Board of Trustees.

- Section 2. Each Committee shall be a "committee of the whole", made up of all Board Members. The Chairperson of the Board of Trustees shall appoint a Chairperson for each Committee, and may also appoint a Co-Chairperson subject to approval by the Board of Trustees. The Chairperson of the Board of Trustees cannot serve as Committee Chairperson or Co-Chairperson. Each Committee shall meet from time to time at the call of the Chairperson and/or Co-Chairperson of the Committee. Each Committee Chairperson and/or Co-Chairperson shall establish a tentative Committee meeting schedule for the calendar year by April 1 and which schedule can be revised as needed. Decisions made by Committees shall be put on the agenda of the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Trustees, unless an earlier special meeting of the Board of Trustees is called for the purpose of considering a Committee's decision.
- **Section 3.** A minimum of four (4) Members of the Board of Trustees shall be necessary to form a quorum for a Committee meeting and to transact the business of the Committee. All decisions by a Committee shall require the affirmative vote of a majority of the Members of the Board of Trustees present at a meeting in which a quorum exists.
- **Section 4.** The Chairperson and/or Co-Chairperson of each Committee may establish rules and procedures for the conduct of meetings of such Committee, provided that such rules and procedures are not inconsistent with any other provision of these Rules and Regulations. Any dispute between the Chairperson and any Co-Chairperson as to the rules and procedures for the conduct of meetings of such Committee shall be resolved by a majority vote of such Committee.
- **Section 5.** All Committee meetings shall be open except when otherwise authorized under the provisions of Sections 610.010 to 610.030 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri.

## Rule VII. - Medical Board

**Section 1.** The Board of Trustees shall designate a medical board in accordance with Subsection 13 of Section 169.450, R.S.Mo. 1978, as amended. Such Medical Board shall consist of three physicians. The Medical Board shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees.

#### Rule VIII. - Executive Director

- **Section 1.** An Executive Director of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis shall be appointed by and shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees. The Executive Director shall assume and discharge responsibility for the day to day administration and business affairs of the Retirement System, subject at all times to the direction and supervision of the Board of Trustees.
- **Section 2.** The duties of the Executive Director shall include, but shall not be limited to the following:
  - a. supervise and appoint all staff employees subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees,
  - b. interview and counsel members concerning retirement benefits,
  - c. review all correspondence addressed to the Retirement System and reply to mail when indicated,

- d. prepare and distribute notices of all meetings of the Board of Trustees and Committee meetings,
- e. prepare agenda of matters to be considered at meetings of the Board of Trustees and Committees,
- f. prepare an annual report of the Retirement System to be distributed to members of the St. Louis Board of Education, Members of the Board of Trustees, and members of the Retirement System,
- g. assist in the preparation of amendments to applicable Missouri statutes governing the Retirement System, as directed by the Board of Trustees, and attend hearings on proposed legislation affecting the Retirement System,
- h. attend all conventions and conferences of the National Council on Teacher Retirement, as needed,
- i. supervise the preparation of and review all checks issued by the Retirement System,
- j. prepare an annual budget for review and approval of the Board of Trustees,
- k. monitor the fiscal affairs of the Retirement System,
- l. assist in the purchase and sale of securities, the collection of dividends and interest thereon, and in safekeeping of securities,
- m. assist the Investment Consultant in discharging investment related duties,
- n. secure and present all data and other information requested or required by the actuary to calculate retirement benefits and to prepare such studies and analysis and recommendations requested by the Board of Trustees, and
- o. be knowledgeable concerning the Missouri statutes governing the Retirement System in order to respond to member inquiries and explain alternatives available.
- Section 3. Commencement of Retirement Benefits for New Retirees. In order to avoid delays in the commencement of retirement benefits and to facilitate the administration of the payment of retirement benefits for new retirees, the Executive Director is empowered to authorize payment of such retirement benefits, in an amount determined by the actuary prior to approval by the Board of Trustees. Any such action and the determination by the actuary of such retirement benefit shall be reported to, ratified, and approved by the Board of Trustees at its next regular meeting.
- **Section 4.** All reasonable and necessary expenses of the Executive Director in discharging his/her duties shall be paid or reimbursed by the Retirement System, subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees.
- **Section 5.** The Executive Director may recruit applicants for open staff positions in the Retirement System office in a manner acceptable to the Board of Trustees.

#### Rule IX. - Rules of Order

- **Section 1.** Order of Business. The order of business at all regular monthly meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be as follows:
  - 1. Roll call and announcement of a quorum
  - 2. Approval of minutes of last meeting
  - 3. Seating of new members (when required)
  - 4. Reading of communications to the Board of Trustees
  - 5. Presentations by Interested Parties

- 6. Consent Agenda
- 7. Unfinished Business
- 8. Report of the Chairperson
- 9. Report of the Executive Director
- 10. Report of the Investment Consultant
- 11. Report of the Actuary
- 12. Reports of the Committees of the Board
- 13. New Business
- 14. Report of the Attorney
- 15. Adjournment

Regarding Item 5 above, Presentations by Interested Parties, an interested party wishing to address the trustees at a Board of Trustees meeting must comply with the requirements set forth below.

- a. Interested parties must sign a registration roster and provide the Executive Director with written summaries of their presentations prior to the scheduled beginning time of the Board meeting.
- b. The registration roster will require an interested party to provide his/her name, relationship with the Retirement System, mailing address, and the nature of the issue he/she intends to address.
- c. Comments from interested parties will be limited to three minutes each.
- d. Only two interested parties will be permitted to speak on the same issue.

Regarding Item 10 above, Report of the Investment Consultant, the investment consultant will meet with the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System, whether at a Committee meeting or regular Board meeting, on at least a quarterly basis to give the report that is basic to the health of the portfolio. The investment consultant will meet in person or by means of video or telephone communications.

The Chairperson, with the approval of the Board of Trustees, may permit a report to be presented out of order at any meeting.

**Section 2.** In all matters not covered by the rules of the Board of the Trustees, parliamentary procedures for all meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be governed by the latest revision of the manual known as "Robert's Rules of Order".

#### Rule X. - Election of Trustees and Procedures for Elections

- Section 1. Five trustees shall be elected for terms of four years by and from the active members of the Retirement System who shall hold office as trustees only while active members; provided that two of such persons shall be teachers, two shall be non-teachers, and one shall be a school administrator. The school administrator shall be a member whose job classification is on the school administrator's position schedule.
- **Section 2.** Two trustees, who shall be retirees, shall be elected for terms of four years by and from the retirees of the Retirement System; provided that one of such persons shall be a teacher and one shall be a non-teacher.
- **Section 3.** In any election for trustee of the Retirement System, the candidate receiving the highest number of votes, which need not be a majority of the votes cast at such election, shall be declared the winner. Separate ballots will be used for teacher, non-teacher, retiree-teacher, retiree-non-teacher, and school administrator elections.

- **Section 4.** Whenever two teacher or non-teacher trustees are to be elected at the same election, candidates for both positions shall be included on one ballot and each voter shall be entitled to cast one vote for each of two candidates. No cumulative voting shall be allowed. The two candidates receiving the highest number of votes, which need not be a majority of votes cast at such election, shall be declared the winners.
- **Section 5.** If one position to be filled at any election is for a longer term of office, the candidate receiving the highest number of votes in the election shall take office for the longer term.
- **Section 6.** In the case of death, resignation or removal of a trustee, a special election shall be held for the unexpired term of the trustee who died, resigned or was removed, provided that if such death, resignation, or removal occurs less than six months prior to the expiration of such trustee's term of office, the Board of Trustees may elect not to hold a special election to fill the vacancy.
- **Section 7.** If any election for the office of trustee results in a tie, the names of the candidates who received an equal number of votes shall be included on a second ballot for a run-off election following the same procedures as were used in the original election.
- **Section 8.** Notice of an election of a trustee shall be mailed by the Election Commissioner to active members if the trustee will be elected by them or to retirees if the trustee will be elected by them, advising that such election will be held, the qualifications for the trustee to be elected, instructions for registering as a candidate for such election, and the registration deadline which shall be two weeks after date of mailing of such notice, or if such date is a legal holiday on the following business day.
- **Section 9.** Any candidate requesting to withdraw her/his name from the ballot must do so no later than the last day of the registration deadline.
- **Section 10.** If no candidate or only one candidate properly registers for the position of trustee for any election of a trustee, the registration process shall be reopened and the Election Commissioner shall mail another notice of the election of a trustee establishing a new registration deadline for the registration of candidates, which shall be two weeks after the date of mailing of such new notice, or if such date is a legal holiday, on the following business day. If only one candidate properly registers for the position of trustee after two mailings of a notice for any election of a trustee, then the election shall proceed with only one candidate. If no candidate registers after two mailings of a notice for any election of a trustee, election notices shall be mailed until at least one candidate has properly registered.
- **Section 11.** The firm of independent certified accountants regularly engaged by the Board of Trustees shall serve as Election Commissioner and shall conduct all elections for trustees. The Election Commissioner shall handle all aspects of trustee elections including:
  - a. candidate registration,
  - b. certification of candidate eligibility with the appropriate Human Resources Department, and
  - c. receipt of candidate biographies, which will be printed as submitted without editing.
- **Section 12.** All mailings to active members and retirees in connection with any election shall be addressed to the home addresses furnished by the employer in the case of active members, and to the home addresses as reflected in the records of the Retirement System in the case of retirees.
- **Section 13.** The following procedures shall be observed by the Election Commissioner, in addition to such other procedures not specifically provided herein as may be adopted by the Election Commissioner for any election:

- a. Only the names of such candidates who have registered prior to the registration deadline shall appear on the ballot for the election. The names of candidates shall be listed on the ballot in the order selected by lot by the Election Commissioner from a blind pool of the names of all candidates.
- b. All ballots, mailing envelopes, return envelopes and instructions to voters shall be prepared by or under the supervision of the Election Commissioner in accordance with these rules. The cost of printing and postage shall be paid by the Retirement System.
- c. Ballots, instructions to voters consistent with these rules, biographies not to exceed eighty (80) words submitted by the candidates and return envelopes shall be mailed first class mail postage prepaid to those active members or retirees eligible to vote in the election. In order to be counted, ballots must be postmarked up to fifteen (15) days after they were mailed.
- d. Candidates wishing to conduct a mailing in addition to the eighty (80) word biography included with the ballot may do so at their own expense subject to the following provisions.
  - (1) Within five (5) business days of the close of the candidate registration period, the candidate will provide to a commercial mailing service designated by the Election Commissioner sufficient copies of his/her mailing materials for all eligible voters along with a cashier's check or money order to pay for first class mailing of the materials.
  - (2) The mailing materials must be appropriately inserted in sealed envelopes when they are delivered to the mailing service.
  - (3) The Election Commissioner will provide mailing data for all eligible voters to the commercial mailing service.
  - (4) In no event will the Election Commissioner provide names and addresses of eligible voters directly to a candidate.
- e. All return envelopes shall be date stamped by the Election Commissioner when delivered.
- f. All return envelopes delivered to the Election Commissioner shall be retained by the Election Commissioner in a secure place and shall remain unopened until the official tabulation of votes.
- g. The Election Commissioner shall employ procedures to assure the integrity of return envelopes and ballots. Return envelopes that do not satisfy integrity criteria shall be retained by the Election Commissioner, but the ballots therein shall not be counted.
- h. Return envelopes delivered to the Election Commissioner after the deadline shall be date stamped and retained by the Election Commissioner but not opened, and ballots therein shall not be counted.
- i. The Election Commissioner shall notify the Retirement System and the candidates of the date, time and place for the opening of the return envelopes and the official tabulation of votes, which shall be five (5) business days after the postmark cutoff date, and each candidate may have a representative present to observe the opening of the return envelopes and the counting of the votes.
- j. The Election Commissioner shall adopt appropriate procedures to reconcile and account for all ballots and return envelopes mailed and received.
- k. All election materials for each election shall be retained by the Election Commissioner for a period of one year after the date of the official tabulation of votes and then destroyed by the Election Commissioner.

- l. After the official tabulation of votes, the Election Commissioner shall certify the results to the Board of Trustees and shall include in such certification a summary of ballots not counted and return envelopes not opened and the reasons therefore. The certification of the result by the Election Commissioner shall be final.
- m. Any candidate having an objection to the conduct of the election shall have thirty (30) days from the date the Election Commissioner certifies the result of the election to file a challenge to the election in St. Louis Circuit Court pursuant to 536.150 R.S.Mo.

#### n. Election Challenge Procedure

- (1) Any and all complaints concerning conduct which could affect the outcome of the election shall be referred to the Election Commissioner by the complaining party within five (5) days of the certification of result referenced in subparagraph l above. The party asserting the objection shall present evidence in writing to the Election Commissioner within five (5) days of the certification of result. Such evidence shall include, but may not necessarily be limited to, sworn affidavits setting forth the nature and character of the alleged objectionable conduct.
- (2) In the event of an election challenge, the Election Commissioner will notify the Board of Trustees of the challenge, will review the evidence in consultation with the Executive Director and Counsel to the PSRS and, if the Election Commissioner believes there is a reasonable basis that the outcome of the election was affected, he/she shall immediately refer the matter to a Hearing Officer. The Hearing Officer shall be selected by the Election Commissioner but shall be an independent third party unconnected to the Public School Retirement System or the St. Louis School System. The cost of the Hearing Officer shall be paid by the Public School Retirement System.
- (3) Upon referral, the Hearing Officer shall set a date, which in no event shall be later than five (5) working days after the Hearing Officer has received the referral from the Election Commissioner as described in paragraph b. above, for a hearing at which the objecting party shall be entitled to submit evidence, including witnesses who shall give testimony under oath. Any candidate in the election shall be entitled to attend and participate in the hearing, including presenting evidence.
- (4) After the hearing, the Hearing Officer shall make a decision which shall be based on a preponderance of the evidence. The Decision of the Hearing Officer shall be rendered within thirty (30) days after the close of all evidence and shall be in writing with a copy sent to all parties, including the Board of Trustees.
- (5) If the Hearing Officer determines, based on a preponderance of evidence, that the conduct affected the outcome of the election, he/she shall so indicate in the Decision and advise the Trustees that the election will be set aside. In such case, the matter shall be referred back to the Board and a new election shall be held consistent with Rule X.
- (6) If the Hearing Officer finds that the conduct did not affect the outcome of the Election, he/she shall so indicate in the Decision and thereafter the Election Commissioner shall issue a notice to all parties of the results. The Decision of the Hearing Officer shall be subject to appeal consistent with the Missouri Administrative Procedures Act. R.S. Mo. 536.010 et.seq.
- (7) If an appeal is taken from the decision of the Hearing Officer, the decision of the Hearing Officer shall be stayed pending appeal. During any of the procedures described above, the candidate receiving the most votes shall serve as the elected Trustee.

## Rule XI. - Open Meetings and Records

- **Section 1.** All meetings and records of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis shall be open to the public, except when otherwise authorized under the provisions of Section 610.010 to 610.030 R.S.Mo. 1978, as amended.
- Section 2. Whenever possible, all meetings of the Board of Trustees of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis shall be recorded to assist in the preparation of accurate minutes of each meeting. The recording of each meeting shall be retained intact until three months after the date of such meeting at which time it may be erased unless the accuracy of the minutes has been challenged prior to the expiration of such three-month period. If challenged, the recording of such meeting shall be retained until all questions concerning the accuracy of such minutes are resolved.

#### Rule XII. - Regulation of Conflicts of Interest

Section 1. All Members of the Board of Trustees and all employees of the Retirement System shall avoid any conflict of interest and shall comply with the applicable provisions of Sections 105.450 - 105.454, R.S.Mo. 1978, as amended, all other applicable provisions of law regulating conflicts of interest, and the Education, Travel, and Code of Ethics Policies contained in Appendix A to these Rules and Regulations.

#### Rule XIII. - Amendment of Rules

- **Section 1.** No Rule Adopted by the Board of Trustees shall be amended, suspended, or repealed, except upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds of all of the Members of the Board of Trustees.
- Procedures for suggesting a Rule change will require that a trustee submit the proposed change in writing to the Executive Director for inclusion with the agenda materials for the next meeting of the Board. The proposed amendment, repeal, or suspension will not be discussed or submitted for a vote until the Board meeting next following the Board meeting at which the change was initially introduced. The foregoing does not apply to the adoption, amendment, suspension, or repeal of any Policy, which need only be approved by a majority vote of the Board at one regular Board meeting.
- **Section 3.** The legal consultant (attorney) will be given copies of all rules submitted by trustees with the names and dates of the proposed rule change. The attorney is charged with the responsibility to determine if any proposed rule change violates any established rule of the Board and/or is in conflict with state statutes that govern the Board.

#### Rule XIV. - Investment Policies

#### Section 1. General

- a. This Rule provides guidance to fiduciaries, including investment managers ("Managers") and the Board of Trustees ("Trustees") of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis ("System"), in the course of investing the retirement funds ("Fund") of the System. Specifically, this Rule:
  - (1) briefly outlines the investment-related responsibility of the Trustees and the Managers they retain to manage assets of the System,
  - (2) provides a framework for regular constructive communication between the System and its Managers, and

- (3) authorizes the establishment of formal, yet flexible, Investment and Operating Guidelines that incorporate prudent asset allocation and realistic total return goals and create standards of investment performance by which the Managers agree to be measured over a reasonable time period.
- b. This Rule may be amended or modified from time to time by the Trustees, in the manner provided in the System's Rules and Regulations, upon consideration of the advice and recommendations of retained professionals, including the System's actuary, accountant, Manager(s), investment consultant, and attorney. It is also expected that this Rule and the related Investment and Operating Guidelines will be reviewed at least once a year to insure their relevance to the System's needs and to communicate any material changes thereto to the Managers.

#### Section 2. Responsibilities - Board of Trustees

Upon consideration of the advice and recommendations of retained professionals, the Trustees' responsibilities include:

- a. complying with the provisions of pertinent federal, state and local laws, regulations and rulings,
- b. developing investment goals and policies that are consistent with the needs of the System and adopting written investment guidelines for use by the System's staff and professional advisors in the day-to-day management and supervision of the System's Managers,
- c. evaluating and appointing Managers to invest and manage the System's assets,
- d. determining how the System's assets should be allocated across and within various asset classes,
- e. establishing monitoring procedures for the System's Managers,
- f. reviewing and evaluating the results of the Managers in context with established standards of performance, and
- g. evaluating and selecting qualified investment consultants to assist in implementing and carrying out the System's investment policies and related investment guidelines.
- h. evaluating and appointing custodians for safekeeping of the System's assets.

#### Section 3. Investment Goals

- a. Assets of the System shall be invested in a manner designed to preserve and enhance principal over the long term, both in real and nominal terms.
- b. Total return, consistent with prudent investment management, is the primary goal of the System. Total return, as used herein, includes income less expenses plus realized and unrealized gains and losses in the System's assets.
- c. The Trustees will establish, in the Investment and Operating Guidelines, both real and nominal long-term target rates of return for the Fund that are projected to provide a high probability of achieving the System's long-term investment objectives within acceptable risk levels.
- d. The Trustees shall establish, in the Investment and Operating Guidelines, additional performance expectations for the Fund as a whole and for each asset classification within the Fund.
- e. Total Fund risk exposure and risk adjusted returns will be regularly evaluated and compared to such peer group or groups that the Trustees and investment consultant may from time to time select.

#### Section 4. Permissible Investments

In fulfilling the investment objectives of the Fund, the Trustees may invest the System's assets in the following types of investments.

- a. Domestic Equity Investments are permitted and may include domestic common stocks traded over-the-counter or on a domestic stock exchange. Convertible bonds, preferred stocks, warrants and rights may be purchased as equity substitutes so long as the underlying equity meets applicable standards. American Depository Receipts (ADRs), which are dollar-denominated negotiable certificates traded on domestic U.S. stock exchanges, and non-U.S. incorporated stocks traded in U.S. dollars on U.S. stock exchanges may be held by each domestic stock Manager to a maximum of 20%. The aforementioned limitation would not apply to U.S. companies that transfer their registration to reduce their U.S. tax liability.
- b. Domestic Fixed Income Securities are permitted and may include obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or any agency or instrumentality thereof, corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, agency guaranteed mortgage pass-through securities, and low-risk collateralized mortgage obligations. Domestic fixed income Managers may also invest in U.S. dollar-denominated issues of international agencies, foreign governments and foreign corporations, i.e., Eurodollar and Yankee bonds.
- c. International Investments are permitted and may include equity and fixed-income securities. International investments shall only be entered into through the selection of qualified investment management organizations as consistent with fiduciary responsibilities.
- d. Cash Equivalents and other short-term funds are permitted and may be invested in direct U.S. Government obligations such as U.S. Treasury Bills or repurchase agreements, which are fully collateralized by U.S. Treasury issues. Unless expressly prohibited by the Trustees, excess cash may be invested in the Short Term Investment Fund (STIF) of the Custodian Bank(s) or negotiable certificates of deposit, or other short term investment vehicles deemed prudent by the investment Manager. Funds may be invested in U.S. dollar denominated commercial paper rated no less than P-1 by Moody's or A-1 by Standard and Poor's or equivalent ratings using similar credit criteria. International managers of segregated portfolios may invest excess cash in the STIF fund or deposit accounts of the Custodian or sub-custodian banks, subject to these same criteria.
- e. Real Estate Investments, both debt and equity, are permitted, but new purchases after the adoption of this Rule, shall be limited to pooled funds managed by institutions that are experienced and widely recognized.
- f. Upon recommendation of investment consultant and approval by the Trustees, covered call *options* may be written on eligible securities.
- g. Private Capital Market Investments, such as venture capital, leveraged buyouts, mezzanine debt, bank loans, direct lending, asset-based lending, other private debt strategies and infrastructure, may be included among the System's equity investments, provided such investments remain within the limits authorized by the Trustees. Private markets amounts that exceed the target allocation, as a result of partial or full liquidation of positions or the receipt of income from investments, may be reallocated to the System's under-allocated asset classes or used to meet cash flow needs according to the approved Investment Policy Asset Allocation Targets and Ranges.
- h. *Market Neutral* (long/short strategies) and certain hedge funds with appropriate transparency and liquidity (e.g. merger/convertible arbitrage, fund of funds) may be selected for investment.

- i. *Futures Contracts* or forward currency options may be written against securities in the equity portfolio by an investment Manager who has authority to manage such portfolios.
- j. Commingled funds and/or institutional mutual funds may be used as investment vehicles. The Trustees recognize that they cannot give specific policy directives to such funds (whose policies are already established in separate prospectus or private offering memoranda); therefore, the Trustees shall direct the investment consultant to assess and monitor the investment policies of such funds to ascertain that their policies are reasonably comparable to the System's policies.
- k. The System may establish a Securities Lending Program subject to restrictions established by the Trustees, and consistent with Legal Statutes. The underlying collateral shall conform with the quality standards as outlined in Section 4d of the Policy Statement.
- l. *Commodities* included in funds where money managers use forward exchange contracts ("FX forwards") or "swaps" on currency to help cure risk volatility as opposed to risk leveraging.

# Section 5. Asset Allocation Policy

- a. As a part of this Rule, the Trustees shall adopt an asset allocation policy that is based on a liability-driven approach that tailors the System's asset allocation to its long-term liabilities. This process will establish long-term target return goals and the expected portfolio asset mix required to achieve those goals expressed as a percent of the Fund.
- b. The Trustees shall review the asset allocation policy on a regular basis, at least semi-annually, to determine if the asset allocation is consistent with the exposure range established for the Fund.
- c. The asset allocation policy adopted by the Trustees is to be pursued by the System on a long-term basis but will be revised if significant changes occur within the economic and/or capital market environments. A change in the System's liability structure or funded status may also trigger a revision of the asset allocation policy.

# Section 6. Investment & Operating Guidelines

In consultation with the System's investment consultant and subject to the approval of the Investment Committee of the Trustees, staff shall implement the procedures set forth in the Investment and Operating Guidelines. These guidelines shall be consistent with the achievement of the investment goals of the System, shall incorporate the asset allocation policy, and shall provide for the customary oversight of investment Managers by the System's staff and investment consultants. The Investment and Operating Guidelines shall reflect the following considerations:

- a. the manner in which investment Managers are expected to carry out their assignments,
- b. expected diversification within each asset class, rates of turnover, quality ratings, types of instruments, issue size, country weightings, as appropriate, and asset holdings,
- c. risk control measures such as annual average beta or other statistical measures of risk, portfolio quality and maturity,
- d. procedures for monitoring the Fund and its Managers and proxy voting guidelines.
- e. Compliance with all guidelines must be monitored by the Managers on a regular basis (monthly, or more frequently when unusual market conditions warrant) and must be based on then-current market values. In the event a portfolio moves out of compliance with this Rule or the Investment and Operating Guidelines (as identified in the Manager's regular review of the portfolio) through market conditions or other changes outside the control of the Manager, the Manager must bring the portfolio composition back into compliance with the Investment Policy Statement within the earliest time frame the Manager considers prudent and promptly inform the

Trustees, staff and investment consultant that the Investment Policy Statement has been breached, and of the Manager's plan for addressing the issue (and/or steps already taken to address the issue).

- f. Managers shall make all portfolio transactions on a "best execution" basis. Arrangements to direct commissions shall only be implemented by specific written authorization of the Trustees and shall be in compliance with industry best practices. While the system is not subject to governance by the Department of Labor and ERISA, the provisions of ERISA as described in Department of Labor ERISA Technical Release No. 86-1 and other applicable releases may be reviewed for guidance on best practices.
- g. The Investment and Operating Guidelines may contain such other policies, procedures and limitations as are necessary, advisable or appropriate for the management of the Fund or any asset class component of the Fund.
- h. Disbursements shall be made from a disbursement account which in turn will be funded by the necessary transfers from the Fund's investment Managers. Such transfers, amounts, and timing, shall be determined by the Executive Director, upon advice from the Investment Consultant, and approved by the Trustees as necessary to satisfy liquidity requirements and maintain compliance with the Investment Policy asset allocation targets and ranges.

#### Section 7. Prohibited Investments

Unless specifically approved by the Trustees, certain direct securities, strategies and investments are ineligible for inclusion within the Fund. Among these are:

- a. lettered, legend or other so-called restricted stock,
- b. uncovered short or leveraged positions,
- c. margin purchases,
- d. direct physical commodities,
- e. straight preferred stocks and tax-preferenced securities, unless pricing anomalies in the marketplace suggest the likelihood of near-term capital gains when normal spread relationships resume,
- f. investments in private placements (except marketable, liquid securities issued under Rule 144A), real estate, oil and gas, and venture capital, unless approved by the Trustees in advance of their purchase.

#### Rule XV. - Principles

The Retirement System hereby adopts the following principles advocated by the National Council on Teacher Retirement, and with respect to such principles hereby pledges as follows:

- **Section 1.** Courteous Service. To give members prompt and courteous service and provide complete and accurate information.
- **Section 2.** *Member Statements.* To provide each active member with an annual statement that includes the member's accrued service credit, employee contributions, and other related information.
- **Section 3.** *Information.* To provide new participants in the system with a summary of plan terms that clearly and simply summarizes the benefit provisions of the plan. The System will make available information on changes made in benefits.

- **Section 4.** *Annual Reports.* Full disclosure of financial, actuarial, and investment information in a detailed annual report that will be available for members, elected officials, and the public.
- **Section 5.** *Financial Audits.* To prepare or cause to be prepared an annual financial statement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and have an annual audit of the System's financial statement in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
- **Section 6.** *Actuarial Studies.* To have an annual or biennial actuarial valuation performed by an enrolled actuary in accordance with actuarial standards and an actuarial experience study at least every five years.
- **Section** 7. *Adequate Funding.* To work to obtain adequate funding of all promised benefits and to ensure the financial integrity of this System.
- **Section 8.** Independence of Retirement Systems. To work for a retirement system which functions as an independent retirement trust, separate from state and local government. Such independence includes the power of trustees to set actuarial assumptions, appoint professionals such as actuaries and attorneys on whom they must rely to carry out their responsibilities, and to establish a budget for the System which ensures the delivery of high quality, cost-effective service to their members.
- **Section 9.** *Exclusive Benefit.* To act for the exclusive benefit of the members as fiduciaries entrusted with the management and payment of retirement benefits.
- **Section 10.** *Prudent Investments.* To adopt comprehensive objectives, methods for evaluation of performance, and policies which ensure both the prudent investment of plan assets and the achievement of the highest possible investment return.
- **Section 11.** *Ethical Conduct.* To adhere to the highest standards of conduct set out in the terms of the trust, state statute or other law.
- **Section 12.** State and Local Government Authority. To support the continuation of state and local pension plan oversight by the respective state or local government to ensure that decisions are made at the appropriate level of government.

#### CHAPTER B. BENEFITS

## Rule I. - Credited Service and Age

#### **Section 1.** *Credited Service.*

- Except in the first and last calendar years of employment by the Board of Education, the Retirement System, Harris-Stowe State College or a charter school, for years prior to January 1, 2001, a member shall be credited with one year of Credited Service for each calendar year for which the member receives pay for one hundred (100) days. Credited Service for the first and last years of employment and all years after 2000 shall be computed by adding the number of days for which the member receives pay in such years and allowing Credited Service for that proportion of a year or years that the sum bears to:
  - (1) one hundred eighty (180) for a member expected to work fewer than 211 days in a year, including holidays and vacation;
  - (2) two hundred five (205) for a member expected to work more than 210 days, but fewer than 245 days in a year, including holidays and vacation; or
  - (3) two hundred thirty (230) for a member expected to work more than 244 days in a year, including holidays and vacation.

This section shall be applicable for any member retiring after December 31, 2000.

b. For members whose employers do not report employment service on a days-paid basis, service will be credited on the basis of compensation earned divided by annual compensation expected for a calendar year.

#### **Section 2.** *Procedures for Crediting Service.*

- a. For the purpose of computing the amount of Credited Service that a member receives pursuant to Sections 169.440-10, 169.440-11 or 169.570, R.S.Mo. 1999, as amended, the following equivalencies shall be used. Credited Service of one (1) year shall be allowed if a member receives pay for one hundred eighty (180) days or more, if said member is expected to work fewer than 211 days in a year, including holidays and vacation; two hundred five (205) days or more if said member is expected to work more than 210 days, but fewer than 245 days in a year, including holidays and vacation; and two hundred thirty (230) days or more if said member expected is to work more than 244 days in a year, including holidays and vacation. Credited Service in a calendar year for fewer than the number of days required for a full year (180, 205 or 230) shall be for the proportion of a year that the number of days of pay bears to the number of days required for a full year.
- b. For members whose employers do not report employment service on a days-paid basis, service will be credited on the basis of compensation earned divided by annual compensation expected for a calendar year.
- **Section 3.** For the purpose of computing a member's Credited Service and age at retirement, the member's accumulated and unused days of sick leave, if any, shall be included. Additions to Credited Service and age for such unused sick leave shall be converted on the basis of the equivalencies described in Section 2 of this Rule.
- **Section 4.** In calculating Credited Service and age for the purpose of determining retirement benefits, or qualifications therefore, prior to January 1, 2002, any partial or fractional month shall be deemed to be a full month. Effective January 1, 2002, actual Credited Service and age will be used for the purpose of determining retirement benefits or qualifications therefor.

Section 5. Inactive members with five or more years of Credited Service who elect, pursuant to Section 169.460, R.S.Mo 1999, as amended, to leave their accumulated contributions with the Retirement System and receive a retirement benefit after they reach the minimum age for voluntary retirement, shall be entitled at retirement to add to their actual age and Credited Service for the purpose of computing their benefits the unused days of sick leave which they had accumulated at the time they became inactive members. This section shall be applicable to any inactive member who applies for retirement benefits after February 1, 1980.

#### Rule II. - Payment of Fractional Benefits

Section 1. When a retiree or a designated beneficiary dies leaving an unpaid portion of the retiree's accumulated contributions at retirement, such unpaid accumulated contributions shall be paid to the designated beneficiary, if living, otherwise, to the estate of the person last entitled to benefits. If such accumulated contributions, or any other benefit, are left unclaimed and if no estate can be found to have been opened, then the accumulated contributions shall escheat to the State of Missouri in compliance with applicable law.

#### Rule III. - Correction of Errors

Section 1. When a clerical error has resulted in any member or beneficiary receiving from the Retirement System more or less than the member or beneficiary would have been entitled to receive, the Executive Director, with the assistance of the actuary, shall have authority to make corrections of records and the adjustments of the payments, which may be necessary in order that the actuarial equivalent of the benefit to such member or beneficiary was correctly entitled shall be paid.

#### Rule IV. - Limitation of Benefits

- **Section 1.** In the case of optional retirement allowances under Subsection 12 of Section 169.460, the survivor benefits payable to a beneficiary, other than the spouse of the retiree, shall in no event exceed 50% the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance computed at the time of retirement.
- **Section 2.** No retirement allowances shall be paid which exceed the limitations provided in Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended.
- **Section 3.** The re-employment of a Retired Member into a position that requires participation in the Retirement System will not change the retirement benefit attributable to the member's service prior to his/her first retirement date. Upon subsequent retirement, the Member will have his or her prior retirement allowance recommence in the same amount and under the same optional form, if an option was elected.

In addition, the Member may receive an additional retirement allowance based upon any Credited Service earned following re-employment. The additional retirement allowance will be based upon the benefit formula in effect at the time of the subsequent retirement and solely upon the Credited Service and Compensation earned subsequent to re-employment.

In no event may the total retirement allowances, excluding any Cost of Living Adjustments received by the Member, prior to application of any option reduction factors, exceed sixty percent (60%) of the Member's highest Average Final Compensation.

#### Rule V. - Tax Sheltered Annuities

1. With the approval of the Board of Trustees, any member may authorize the Board of Education to reduce his/her compensation and pay over the amount by which such compensation is reduced to the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis to provide a tax-sheltered annuity for such member. In order to participate in the tax-sheltered annuity program, members must authorize the Board of Education of the City of St. Louis to make such deductions from their compensation not less than thirty (30) days in advance of their participation in the program. All additional contributions will be deducted and administered in the same manner as required contributions to the Retirement System, except as otherwise provided in this Rule. Each participating member shall have full responsibility for determining the maximum amount excludable from income each year under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, and the Retirement System shall neither assume nor have any responsibility for the tax consequences of the tax sheltered annuity program to any member.

A member may withdraw such additional contributions together with interest credited thereon at any time prior to retirement upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Retirement System. However, if such contributions are withdrawn, a member shall have no right to make any additional contributions for a period of two years after such withdrawal. In the event of a member's death prior to retirement, the member's additional accumulated contributions shall be paid in a lump sum to the member's designated beneficiary, if living; otherwise, to the member's estate. If such accumulated contributions are left unclaimed and if no estate can be found to have been opened, then the accumulated contributions shall escheat to the State of Missouri in compliance with applicable law. At retirement the additional contributions to the tax-sheltered annuity program will be used to provide additional benefits in the form of a refund annuity based on the actuarial assumption then approved for use by the Board of Trustees.

#### Rule VI. - Calculation of Compensation

Section 1. The term "compensation" is defined in Section 169.410(9) to mean regular compensation which a member has earned as an employee in any period, subject to certain limitations. Compensation shall be regular if it is expected to continue until retirement. Extra compensation to department heads and compensation paid for Extended School Year service shall be regular compensation. Compensation also includes the Employer-paid cost of an Active Member's health and welfare benefits. Overtime pay, the lump sum payout of unused vacation or sick leave, special compensation for compensatory time off accruals, special compensation for services in connection with extracurricular activities, and summer school, shall not be considered regular compensation.

#### Rule VII. - Definition of Years of Service

- **Section 1.** The three "consecutive years of service" referenced in the definition of Average Final Compensation in Section 169.410 (3) shall be deemed to be
  - a. 765 consecutive paid days of work, including holidays and vacation, for all members expected to work more than 244 days,
  - b. 660 consecutive paid days of work, including holidays and vacation, for all members expected to work more than 210 but fewer than 245 days, and
  - c. 600 consecutive paid days of work, including holidays and vacation, for all members expected to work fewer than 211 days, however,

in no event shall "three consecutive years of service" be fewer than thirty-six (36) consecutive months.

#### Rule VIII. - Purchase of Service Credit

- **Section 1.** This Section 1 shall apply for members who purchase service credit in this Retirement System prior to January 1, 2003 and for members who begin their series of regular monthly payments to purchase service credit in this Retirement System prior to January 1, 2003.
  - a. Whenever a member purchases service credit in this Retirement System for service in a public school district in Missouri or outside the State of Missouri or in a private school in accordance with R.S. Mo. Section 169.462, as in effect prior to August 28, 2001, when permitted by law, interest shall be calculated at an annual rate, compounded annually, of 3% for years prior to 1956, 4% for the years 1956 to 1965, 5-1/4% for the years 1966 to 1975, 7-1/4% for years 1976 to 1985 and, thereafter, equal to the assumed rate of return on investments, adopted by the Board of Trustees and used by the actuary as an actuarial assumption for the Retirement System at the time of such purchase; except, that any member who revokes an election to continue contributions and receive benefits under prior law in accordance with R.S. Mo. Section 169.435 shall have interest on additional contributions for each year involved in such calculation, calculated at an annual rate, compounded annually, equal to the rate interest was credited to members' accounts for such year.
  - b. Whenever a member purchases service credit in this Retirement System for involuntary lay off in a staff reduction in accordance with R.S. Mo. Section 169.462, as in effect prior to August 28, 2001, interest will be calculated equal to the assumed rate of return on investments adopted by the Board of Trustees and used by the actuary as an actuarial assumption for the Retirement System at the time of such purchase, interest compounded annually.
- Section 2. Effective January 1, 2003, whenever a member purchases service credit or begins a series of regular monthly payments to purchase service credit in this Retirement System in accordance with R.S.Mo. Section 169.440, paragraph 5, sub-paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d) and (f), and R.S.Mo. Section 169.577, as amended effective August 28, 2001, the member shall pay the actuarial value of such service credit.
- Section 3. Effective January 1, 2003, whenever a member purchases service credit or begins a series of regular monthly payments to purchase service credit in this Retirement System in accordance with R.S.Mo. Section 169.440, paragraph 5, sub-paragraph (e), as amended effective August 28, 2001, the member shall repay the amount of the refund of accumulated member contributions plus accrued interest thereon at actuarially assumed rates.
- **Section 4**. Effective January 1, 2003, members will be charged \$100 for each re-calculation of a purchase of service credit that was previously calculated but not purchased.
- **Section 5**. Effective January 1, 2002, this Retirement System will be authorized to accept direct transfers for the purchase of service credit as permitted by the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act (EGATRA) of 2001.

#### Rule IX. - Factor Tables for Optional Benefits

**Section 1.** The factor tables used by the Actuary for calculation of benefits under optional forms of benefit payments are set forth in Table A, which is appended hereto. In no event shall the reduction factor be greater than 99.0%. If the beneficiary is ten (10) or more years younger than the member, the

Option 3 factor equals the Option 1 factor less 0.8% and the Option 4 factor equals the Option 2 factor less 0.4%.

#### Rule X. - Expense and Contingency Reserve

**Section 1.** The Board of Trustees has adopted a policy, which is reviewed annually, to establish the method by which the amount in the Expense and Contingency Reserve required by R.S.Mo. 169.490.6 shall be re-determined as of each January 1.

# Rule XI. - Insurance Program for Retirees

Pursuant to Section 169.476, R.S.Mo. the following rule shall be applicable to all insurance programs approved by the Board of Trustees for the Retirement System:

- Section 1. Prior to approval, the cost of each program shall be estimated by the actuary, and the actuary shall certify to the Board of Trustees that the payment of such cost for the period to be approved will not impair the actuarial soundness of the plan and such cost will not exceed the balance remaining in the Expense Fund after all other deductions and transfers therefrom required by law or by sound actuarial practices.
- **Section 2.** The cost of each program approved by the Board of Trustees shall be reserved and paid from the Expense Fund.
- **Section 3.** With respect to each insurance program made available to retirees, the Board of Trustees shall designate the following at the time of approval of such program:
  - a. the class or classes of retirees eligible for participation,
  - b. the share of the cost to be paid by the Retirement System,
  - c. the share of the cost, if any, to be paid by the retirees,
  - d. the insurance carrier or carriers who will provide coverage for such program,
  - e. the nature and extent of insurance coverage to be afforded, and
  - f. the period for which the program will remain in force, subject to reconsideration at any time by the Board of Trustees in case of unanticipated cost increases.
- **Section 4.** The cost and benefits of any insurance program and the participation of the retirees in the payment of any portion of the cost thereof is not required to be uniform among all retirees.
- Section 5. The share of the cost of any insurance program to be paid by retirees shall be withheld from retirement benefits pursuant to authorization obtained from each retiree as a condition precedent to participation in such program, and the amounts withheld together with Retirement System's share of the cost shall be paid directly to the insurance carrier or carriers at such periodic intervals as shall be approved by the Board of Trustees. No retiree eligible to participate in any insurance program shall be entitled to receive cash payment in lieu of participation or reimbursement for cost of similar insurance paid by such retiree.

#### Rule XII. - Disability Benefits

**Section 1.** Disability benefits approved by the Board of Trustees pursuant to Section 169.460.4 shall be effective and commence as of the later of the first of the month following fifteen (15) days after the date of

filing of the application for disability benefits with the office of the Retirement System, or the first day of the month following the last day for which the applicant is paid by his/her employer.

#### Rule XIII. - Issuing Trust-to-Trust Transfers

**Section 1.** Effective January 1, 2002, this Retirement System will be authorized to issue trust-to-trust distributions as permitted by the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act (EGATRRA) of 2001.

#### Rule XIV. - Missouri Reciprocity

- **Section 1.** The provisions of this rule are to be used solely for the purpose of implementing Section 169.569, RSMo. (Hereinafter, all chapter and section citations are to the Revised Statutes of Missouri unless otherwise indicated.)
- **Section 2**. "System" or "systems" shall mean one or more of the retirement systems created by Chapter 169 and named in Section 169.569.1.
- **Section 3**. The provisions of Section 169.569 and this rule shall apply only to individuals with an effective retirement date after June 30, 2003.
- **Section 4.** An individual may combine service credit from each of the systems with which the individual has at least five (5) years of credited service to determine eligibility for normal or early retirement with each of the respective systems. Service credit from a system with which the individual has less than five (5) years of service may not be combined with any other service credit under this rule. Service credit may not be combined for any other purpose. Only service credit that is certified by the relevant system may be combined pursuant to this rule. An individual may not combine credit with other credit that is based on the same period of employment.
- **Section 5**. Prior to receiving a retirement benefit from a system, an individual must comply with all of that system's requirements related thereto. An individual is not required to terminate employment with employers covered by systems from which the individual is not yet receiving a retirement benefit.
- **Section 6.** Each system will use its own retirement application. All systems will use a uniform Reciprocity Election form.
- Section 7. Each system from which the individual is eligible to retire after combining service credit pursuant to this rule shall pay its own retirement benefit and shall determine the benefit it is to pay to the individual based only on the service credit the individual has with that system. Each system paying a retirement benefit shall calculate its own average final compensation based upon an individual's salaries on record with that retirement system. Each system paying a retirement benefit shall determine the retirement benefit based on its own applicable statutory provisions.
- **Section 8.** An individual shall be subject to the working after retirement limitations for each system from which he or she is receiving a retirement benefit. The benefit paid by a system shall be discontinued only if the individual exceeds the working after retirement limitations, if any, of that system due to employment with an employer covered by that system. In the event of a discontinuance of benefits from one system, the individual may continue to receive a retirement benefit from any system for which he or she has not exceeded that system's working after retirement limitations.
- **Section 9.** Service credit may be combined pursuant to this rule only for the purpose of service retirement eligibility and shall not be combined to determine eligibility for any other benefit payable by any system, including, but not limited to disability, surviving spouse and/or children benefits or minimum benefits.

**Section 10.** Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 9, if, at the time of death, an individual could have elected to retire by combining credit under this rule, the beneficiary of such member may combine credit under this rule to qualify for benefits pursuant to Sections 169.070.3(2)(a), 169.326.3, 169.460.14, or 169.670.4(2)(a).

#### Rule XV. - Uncashed Monthly Benefit Checks

- **Section 1**. If a member or beneficiary fails to cash two consecutive monthly benefit checks, Retirement System staff will try to locate and ascertain the status of the individual.
- **Section 2.** If a member or beneficiary fails to cash three consecutive monthly benefit checks, future payments will be suspended until the location and status of the individual can be determined.
- **Section 3.** Members or beneficiaries who have had their monthly benefit checks suspended in accordance with Section 2 of this Rule XV and subsequently fail to cash two consecutive monthly benefit checks, will be required to receive future benefit payments through the Retirement System's electronic deposit program.

#### **REGULATIONS**

The following regulations are hereby adopted by the Board of Trustees of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis:

# Regulation I. - Amendment of Regulations

**Section 1.** Any regulation adopted by the Board of Trustees may be amended, suspended, or repealed by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees.

# Regulation II. - Medical Board

- Section 1. Duties. Pursuant to R.S. Mo. 169.450.12, 1978, as amended, the Medical Board shall:
  - a. arrange for and pass upon all medical examinations required under the provisions of R.S. Mo. 169.410 169.540;
  - b. investigate all essential statements and certificates made by or on behalf of a member in connection with an application for disability retirement; and
  - c. report in writing to the Board of Trustees its conclusions and recommendations upon all matters referred to it.
- **Section 2.** *Composition.* The Board of Trustees shall designate a Medical Board to be composed of three physicians, none of whom are eligible for benefits under R.S. Mo. 169.410 169.540.
- **Section 3.** Examinations. Examinations required by law shall be made as follows:
  - a. Except as provided herein, a member of the Medical Board (hereafter referred to as the "Examiner") shall examine each member referred to the Medical Board by the Board of Trustees or shall review any medical records submitted by or on behalf of the member to determine whether the member is mentally or physically totally incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent and that such member should be retired.
    - The member may submit or cause to be submitted to the Medical Board for its consideration any medical records or other evidence pertaining to the member's claimed disabling physical or mental condition. No physical examination will be conducted if the Medical Board determines in its discretion that one is not needed.
  - b. If the Examiner determines that the member should be examined by a specialist, the Examiner shall notify the Executive Director and request the Executive Director's permission to make the arrangements for such examination. The Executive Director's permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. The specialist shall prepare a written report of his/her findings as requested by the Examiner and submit his/her report to the Medical Board. The Medical Board may in its discretion base its report thereon.
  - c. The Medical Board shall take into consideration in making its determination of disability the Examiner's findings, any medical records or other evidence submitted by or on behalf of the member, and the report to the Medical Board of any specialist or physician to whom the member was referred by the Medical Board for examination. The Medical Board shall submit the completed report to the Board of Trustees. If the Medical Board recommends that the member be retired and the Board of Trustees accepts such recommendation, the Executive Director shall notify the member that his/her application for disability retirement has been approved.

In the event the Medical Board recommends that the member should not be retired, the PSRSSTL shall mail a copy of the completed Medical Board report to the member. The member

may request that the Medical Board reconsider its recommendation by filing with the Board of Trustees within sixty days after receiving notification of the recommendation of the Medical Board a request for reconsideration form setting forth in detail why the Medical Board's determination is erroneous. In support of the member's request for reconsideration, the member may submit or cause to be submitted any medical records or other evidence not already provided to the Medical Board and may submit or cause to be submitted a statement by the member's treating health care professional(s) setting forth in detail why the recommendation of the Medical Board is erroneous.

A member or members of the Medical Board may confer by phone or in person with the member's treating health care professional(s) and may request any additional medical records from the member's treating health care professional(s) or health care facilities. The Medical Board shall review all the evidence and shall issue a new report to the Board of Trustees.

- d. The Medical Board shall keep and maintain a file on every member referred to it by the Board of Trustees. The file shall contain any materials considered by the Medical Board in reaching its conclusion, all medical records or other evidence submitted by or on behalf of the member and the report of any specialist or physician to whom the member was referred for examination by the Medical Board.
- e. The Medical Board may authorize the member's regular physician to prepare and submit a medical report on the member to the Medical Board. The Medical Board may in its discretion base its report thereon.
- f. If the member is unable to make application for a disability retirement allowance on his own behalf, the member's next of kin or other person legally authorized to act on the member's behalf may submit an application for the member.
- **Section 4.** Fees. The fees charged for an examination or preparing a recommendation or report on examination of any member of beneficiary by any member of the Medical Board or any specialist shall not be more than the usual, customary and reasonable fees charged for such services in the Metropolitan St. Louis Area, subject to approval by the Board of Trustees.

#### Regulation III. - Governance of Employees of the Retirement System

- **Section 1.** The office hours for employees of the Public School Retirement System for the City of St. Louis shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday. Each employee shall be entitled to one hour for lunch during each day, to be taken at a time designated by the Executive Director.
- **Section 2.** The following days shall be regarded as holidays, and the office shall be closed:

New Year's Day

Martin Luther King's Birthday

Presidents' Day

Memorial Day

Juneteenth

The 4th of July

Labor Day

Veterans Day

Thanksgiving Day and the day following Thanksgiving Day

Christmas Eve and Christmas Day

The office shall close at 12 noon on Good Friday and the balance of the day shall be a holiday.

When a holiday occurs on Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as a holiday. When a holiday falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be observed as a holiday.

When Christmas Eve falls on Friday, Thursday and Friday of that week will be observed as holidays. When Christmas Eve falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday and the following Monday will be observed as holidays. When Christmas Eve occurs on Sunday, the following Monday and Tuesday will be observed as holidays.

(Section 2, Revised 10-24-22)

**Section 3.** Effective January 1, 2002, each employee will establish a Vacation Year determined by his/her date of employment with the Retirement System based on the first day of the month following date of employment. For example, if John is hired July 15, 2002, John's first Vacation Year will begin August 1, 2002.

First through Fifth Vacation Years	Employees will earn one day of vacation each month that should be used by the end of the following Vacation Year.
Sixth through Tenth Vacation Years	Employees will earn 1.25 days of vacation each month that should be used by the end of the following Vacation Year.
Eleventh through Fifteenth Vacation Years	Employees will earn 1.67 days of vacation each month that should be used by the end of the following Vacation Year.
Sixteenth Vacation Year Forward	Employees will earn two days of vacation each month that should be used by the end of the following Vacation Year.

Without consent of the Executive Director, employees will not be permitted to carry over vacation days that remain unused at the end of the Vacation Year during which they should have been used; however, if an employee has vacation days that have not been used by the end of the Vacation Year during which they should have been used, up to a maximum of fifty percent (50%) of the employee's annual vacation accrual amount will be converted to sick leave.

Employees hired prior to January 1, 2002 will be permitted to retain vacation days which had been earned but not used as of December 31, 2001 plus vacation days earned under previous Regulation III, Section 3 from January 1, 2002 through the beginning of their first Vacation Year following January 1, 2002. Such retained vacation days will be available for use during an employee's continued employment with the Retirement System, or will be paid at employment separation.

- **Section 4.** All vacations shall be taken at such time or times as approved by the Executive Director.
- **Section 5.** All employee overtime approved by the Executive Director shall be compensated at one and one half (1-1/2) times regular compensation or, at the employee's option, the employee may receive compensating time off to be taken within thirty days after such overtime work at a time satisfactory to the Executive Director.
- **Section 6.** The medical insurance program approved by the Board of Trustees for employees of the Retirement System shall be paid by the Retirement System and shall cover employees only.
- **Section 7.** The life insurance program adopted by the Board of Trustees for employees of the Retirement System shall be paid by the Retirement System and shall cover employees only.

- **Section 8.** Each employee shall be entitled to sick leave when prevented from working by illness or accident at the rate of twelve days per calendar year. If four or more consecutive work days are claimed as sick leave, the employee, as a condition of receiving compensation therefore, must present the Executive Director with a doctor's certificate stating that he/she was prevented by illness or accident from working on such days. Employees may accumulate sick leave from year to year up to a maximum of three hundred (300) days. Taking undue advantage of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge.
- **Section 9.** Employees shall be paid full salary for absence due to the death of a relative, but such absence from duty shall be limited as follows:
  - a. Five (5) working days in any pattern immediately preceding or following the day of death (including the day of the funeral) for spouse or child or parent of an employee.
  - b. Three (3) working days in any pattern immediately preceding or following the day of death (including the day of the funeral) for an employee's brother, sister, half-brother or half-sister, nephew, niece, aunt, uncle, grandparent, step-parent, parent-in-law, step-brother or sister, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, or grandchild.
  - c. One (1) working day for an employee's great-grandparent, aunt or uncle-in-law, grandparent-in-law, niece or nephew-in-law, great grandchild, grand nephew or niece, grand aunt or uncle, or first cousin.
  - d. Leave to attend a funeral of an employee of the Retirement Office may be granted by the Executive Director.
  - e. A memorial may be made for a deceased relative of an employee as mentioned in subparagraphs a and b of this Section. The memorial shall be a minimal expense to the System (not to exceed \$25.00-\$35.00), and shall be either a contribution to a recognized charitable organization in memory of the deceased, or an appropriate floral arrangement delivered to a member of the family of the deceased. A sympathy card shall be forwarded to the family of the deceased where the deceased is a relative of an employee mentioned in subparagraphs a, b, and c of this Section.
- **Section 10.** Employees subpoenaed for jury service shall be granted time off and their daily rate of pay reduced by the amount of monies received from the Court.
- Section 11. Employees are eligible for educational assistance to reimburse the cost of tuition and books for jobrelated courses and/or for courses required in pursuit of a job-related degree. Subject to dollar limitations for non-taxable tuition assistance in the income tax code and to pre-approval by the Executive Director, employees will be eligible for reimbursement of 90% for an "A", 80% for a "B", and 70% for a "C".

So as not to interfere with job performance, educational assistance benefits will be paid for no more than two (2) classes taken at the same time. Classes must be taken outside of regular office hours.

- Section 12. Subject to income tax regulations governing dollar limitations for non-taxable public transportation / parking benefits, and provided employees submit receipts for such expenses, employees will be eligible for non-taxable reimbursement of up to \$90 per month for the use of public transportation to and from work and work-related parking expenses.
- Section 13. Changes in salaries and benefits for employees of the Retirement System shall be approved by the Board of Trustees. At least annually, generally in concert with the annual presentation of the recommended Operating Budget for the Retirement System, the Executive Director will include recommendations for adjustments to the salaries and benefits package for Retirement System employees who are not covered by a separate employment contract.

At the discretion of the Executive Director, a salary increase approved by the Board of Trustees shall not be granted to a Retirement System employee who has been placed on a performance or disciplinary probation or to any Retirement System employee whose overall performance rating is not at an acceptable level until such time as the employee's performance deficit has been satisfactorily corrected.

Prior to authorizing that a salary increase be withheld, the Executive Director will prepare or review written documentation concerning the employee's unsatisfactory performance and will discuss with the affected employee a specific written plan for improvement.

- **Section 14.** If any employee is terminated from employment with PSRSSTL, is disciplined under these Rules and Regulations, including discipline for absences or tardiness pursuant to Regulation IV, or has a complaint regarding the implementation or interpretation of these Rules and Regulations, this Grievance Procedure shall apply:
  - **Step 1.** The employee shall first attempt to informally resolve his or grievance by meeting with the employee's direct supervisor within five (5) working days of the event giving rise to the grievance. If the grievance is resolved at this Step, the resolution shall be final and binding;
  - Step 2. If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step 1, the employee shall submit a written grievance to the Executive Director within five (5) working days of the meeting referred to in Step 1. PSRSSTL may designate a form to be used for this purpose. As soon as practicable, the Executive Director shall meet with the employee and the direct supervisor to discuss a resolution of the grievance. If the grievance is resolved at this Step, the resolution shall be final and binding. If the grievance is not resolved at this Step, the Executive Director shall issue a written decision, stating the reasons therefore, within three (3) days of the Step 2 meeting;
  - Step 3. If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step 2, the employee may request an arbitration panel within three (3) working days of the Step 2 decision. PSRSSTL may designate a form to be used for the purpose of requesting arbitration. The arbitration panel shall consist of the Chair of the Personnel Committee, who shall be the chair of the panel, and two Trustees appointed by the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees.

The arbitration panel shall meet within ten (10) working days of the filing of the request. The employee may present documentary and/or testimonial evidence to the arbitration panel to challenge the discipline or the implementation or interpretation of the Rules and Regulations. The Executive Director, or his/her designee, may also present documentary and/or testimonial evidence in support of the discipline or rule implementation or interpretation.

The arbitration panel shall render its decision in writing, giving reasons therefore, within five (5) working days of the meeting of the arbitration panel. The decision of the arbitration panel shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties.

These deadlines must be strictly complied with. Any failure of the employee to comply shall constitute a waiver of remaining Steps and shall be conclusive of the grievance. The Executive Director, Interim Executive Director, or his or her designee may waive noncompliance with deadlines upon a showing by the employee of a legitimate emergency, or other valid reason for noncompliance. No waiver of noncompliance in a particular case shall be considered a binding past practice and no such waiver of noncompliance shall be binding on PSRSSTL in any future case.

The Grievance Procedure shall not be interpreted as creating a contract of employment, or otherwise modifying or eliminating the Employment-At-Will Doctrine.

## Regulation IV. - Leave of Absence and Employee Attendance

**Section 1.** Leave of Absence. In the event an active member of the Retirement System on leave of absence with the consent of the Board of Education shall retire while on such leave of absence, his retirement allowance shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of law in effect at the time of his retirement. In all other cases, those members on leave of absence who retire shall be granted an allowance in accordance with the provisions of law in effect at the time of their active membership.

## Section 2. Employee Attendance

- a. All employees are expected to be at work every day on time.
- b. Sick leave is to be used only for the illness of the employee or the employee's immediate family.
- c. Use of sick leave for the illness of the employee's immediate family is limited to three (3) consecutive days, each occurrence.
- d. A doctor's note stating that the employee is ready to return to work may be required for an employee that has been absent for personal illness for four or more consecutive work days.
- e. The Executive Director is to use the following in evaluation of the employee's attendance record:
  - Five (5) absences or a total of three (3) Monday and/or Friday absences or three (3) incidents of tardiness: Action conference is held to let the employee know that his/her attendance is in need of improvement. Record conference time and date on Absent/Tardy Notice.
  - Seven (7) absences or a total of four (4) Monday and/or Friday absences or five (5) incidents of tardiness: Action conference is held to warn employee that continued absence/tardiness may require disciplinary action which could result in recommendation for discharge. Record conference time and date on Absent/Tardy Notice.

Eleven (11) absences or a total of six (6) Monday and/or Friday absences or more than five (5) incidents of tardiness: Action - If reasons for absence/tardiness are not satisfactory, dismissal may be recommended, depending on number and circumstances.

Extenuating circumstances may alter or preempt any of the actions.

Failure to follow the foregoing procedure shall in no way limit the Public School Retirement System's authority to discipline employees for excessive absenteeism or tardiness.

# Regulation V. - Information Required for Optional Benefits

**Section 1.** As a condition of electing optional survivor benefits in accordance with the provisions of Sections 169.410 to 169.540 R.S. Mo. 1978, as amended a member shall submit proof of date of birth of all beneficiaries as required by the actuary.

## Regulation VI. - Availability of Minutes of Meetings of Board of Trustees

**Section 1.** Any employee or retiree of the St. Louis City School district or other person may obtain at the office of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis not sooner than ten (10) days following each regular or special meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System, a copy of minutes of such meeting, subject to approval, corrections, additions, deletions and changes by the Board of Trustees at its next regularly scheduled meeting. For a period of thirty (30) days after such meeting such copies may be obtained at no charge, but thereafter a charge of 10 cents (10¢) per page may be assessed and collected when minutes are delivered.

## Regulation VII. - Counsel to the Board of Trustees

**Section 1.** Counsel to the Board of Trustees shall notify the Executive Director in the event there shall be a conflict of interest in his/her representation of the Retirement System with respect to any matter submitted to him/her for legal advice or assistance. In such instances, the Executive Director shall retain special counsel for such matter from a list approved by the Board of Trustees and shall promptly notify the Board of Trustees of such action.

## Regulation VIII. - Deferred Compensation Plan

Section 1. The Retirement System shall provide a Deferred Compensation Plan under Section 457 of the Internal Revenue code of 1986, as amended, for its employees. The plan shall be funded exclusively with contributions by employees of the Retirement System and the Retirement System shall make no contributions to the plan. Participation by employees in this plan shall be optional and shall be in addition to their required participation in the Retirement System retirement plan. The plan shall be administered by the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States or such other administrator as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System, without cost to the Retirement System.

# TABLE A

## **OPTION BENEFICIARY FACTORS**

		Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	Option 4
BENEFICIARY YOUNGER BY:	5 Years	77.6%	87.4%	76.3%	86.6%
	4 Years	78.4%	87.9%	77.0%	87.0%
	3 Years	79.2%	88.4%	77.7%	87.4%
	2 Years	80.0%	88.9%	78.4%	87.8%
	1 Year	80.8%	89.4%	79.1%	88.3%
BENEFICIARY SAME AGE:		81.7%	89.9%	79.8%	88.7%
BENEFICIARY OLDER BY:	1 Year	82.5%	90.4%	80.5%	89.1%
	2 Years	83.3%	90.9%	81.2%	89.6%
	3 Years	84.2%	91.4%	81.9%	90.0%
	4 Years	85.0%	91.9%	82.5%	90.4%
	5 Years	85.9%	92.4%	83.3%	90.8%
For each year beneficiary is younger (older) in excess of 5 years subtract (add) to 5 year factor		0.8%	0.5%	0.7%	0.4%

However, in no event shall the reduction factor be greater than 99.0%; and, if the beneficiary is ten (10) or more years younger than the member, the Option 3 factor shall be equal to the Option 1 factor less 0.8% and the Option 4 factor shall be equal to the Option 2 factor less 0.4%.

# Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis Education, Travel, Code of Ethics Policies, Document, and Missing Members/Beneficiaries

Missouri Statutes §\$105.450, 105.452, 105,454, and 105.458 describe certain prohibited acts by elected and appointed public officials and employees which apply to trustees who serve on the Board of Trustees (the "Board") of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis (the "System") and the individuals the Board employs. For reference, copies of the relevant statutes are attached.

Above and beyond these broad statutes, the Board believes it is prudent to adopt specific additional policies that establish high, ethical standards for the System's trustees and employees. In this regard, education, travel, and code of ethics policies are contained herein. These policies have been adopted by the Board to provide standards for trustee and employee behavior and to protect the System from the implications of actual and/or perceived improprieties.

## **Education Policy**

As fiduciaries of PSRSSTL, Trustees are expected to be capable of performing their duties and responsibilities. To that end, each Trustee should be educated sufficiently to discharge the obligations of the position. Pursuant to Section 105.666, RSMo., the Board has established this Board Education Policy applicable to all Trustees.

## A. New Trustee Orientation Program

Within ninety days of assuming the position of Trustee, new Trustees shall complete six hours of education in a New Trustee Education Program. The curriculum of the New Trustee Education Program shall include, at minimum, the following:

- Duties and responsibilities of Trustees;
- Ethics;
- ➤ Governance process and procedures;
- Pension plan design and administration of benefits;
- Investments, including but not limited to the fiduciary duties as defined under Section 105.688, RSMo.;
- Legal liability and risks associated with the administration of a plan;
- Sunshine law requirements under chapter 610;
- Actuarial principles and methods related to plan administration; and
- The role of staff and consultants in plan administration.

## B. Trustee Education Policy

- Each Trustee is responsible for evaluation of the Trustee's educational needs and obtaining knowledge of specific subject matter.
- Trustees who have served one or more years shall attend at least a total of two hours of continuing education programs each year in the curriculum areas described above.
- Trustees shall routinely inform the Executive Director of their attendance at any continuing education program, and which shall include but is not limited to date, time, length, location, education material, and any facilitator utilized. The Trustees designate the Executive Director to maintain a record of such information and the Executive Director shall complete a certification that the Trustee's annual continuing education requirements were satisfied.

Publications, Subscriptions, Membership Dues

- > The System will pay for an annual subscription to "Pensions & Investments" on behalf of each trustee.
- The System will pay membership dues for the National Council on Teacher Retirement (NCTR), the National Association of Securities Professionals (NASP), and the Missouri Association of Public Employee Retirement Systems (MAPERS).

## Conferences, Workshops

- > The Board has authorized Trustees and the Executive Director to attend conferences sponsored by the NCTR, NPPFA, NASP, at the national level, and MAPERS. Attendance at other educational conferences will be authorized by specific Board approval on a case by case basis. Within sixty days of attending such a conference, the Trustee shall provide a short written report to the Executive Director regarding the educational seminars he/she attended at such a conference.
- From time to time, the Board will invite its professional staff and its investment managers to conduct workshops on specific issues related to pension management.
- On an annual basis, at least two education and training workshops are to be provided by the investment consultant, investment managers or other professionals at a location in or around the St. Louis Metropolitan Area as approved by the Board of Trustees.

## **Travel Policy**

The Travel Policy is intended to provide for the payment of reasonable and proper expenses of the trustees and employees of the System which are actually incurred, appropriately documented, and in connection with the performance of an individual's duties to the System. Travel to educational conferences sponsored by NCTR, NASP, and MAPERS has been authorized by the Board. Travel to other conferences and to business meetings requires specific Board approval.

Trustees and employees who are attending approved educational conferences or business meetings will be responsible for making their own travel arrangements and reservations. Trustees and employees who are planning to attend conferences which have been pre-approved under the System's Education Policy must advise the Executive Director in advance of their intention to attend. The Executive Director will include such information under the Report of the Executive Director at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board in order that minutes of the Board meetings will reflect attendance at pre-approved conferences.

The Board encourages trustees and employees to book travel plan arrangements at least fourteen (14) days during the school year and twenty-one (21) days during the summer break in advance to the extent reasonably practical.

After their return, individuals will be required to submit a Travel Expense Voucher to the Retirement Office and will be subject to the same documentation requirements for the payment of reasonable expenses whether they use the Reimbursement Method or Advance Method, both of which are described below.

Except in situations involving emergencies such as illness or work-related demands, individuals will be responsible for any changes in travel costs as a result of voluntarily changing a booked and paid travel itinerary. If travel is cancelled or not completed by the individual and a travel advance has been paid by the System, then individuals must file a Travel Expense Voucher and reimburse any amount owed the System.

#### ≪ Reimbursement Method

Individuals using the Reimbursement Method will pay their expenses and, within thirty (30) days of their return, submit Travel Expense Vouchers (sample attached) and proper documentation and receipts to the Retirement Office for reimbursement. The Retirement Office will reimburse individuals for approved travel expenses within ten (10) days of final approval of their Travel Expense Vouchers.

#### ⋄ Advance Method

Individuals using the Advance Method may request an advance from the Retirement Office for anticipated expenses for registration fees, transportation and lodging by completing the appropriate form and providing documentation that shows the anticipated expenses. Within thirty (30) days of returning from their trips, individuals *must* submit Travel Expense Vouchers (sample attached) and proper documentation and receipts to the Retirement Office, and

- > if their advances exceed their approved, actual expenses, they must reimburse the System for the difference within ten (10) days of final approval of their Travel Expense Vouchers, or
- > if their approved, actual expenses exceed their advances, the Retirement Office will reimburse them for the difference within ten (10) days of final approval of their Travel Expense Vouchers.
- > Any trustee or employee who fails to timely submit a Travel Expense Voucher, or to timely reimburse the System the amount of any over-advanced money shall not be entitled to request any further advances or make any System related travel plans until such time as the appropriate Travel Expense Voucher has been submitted, finally approved, and any over-advanced money reimbursed to the System.
- > The Executive Director will include information on Trustees ineligible to travel under the Report of the Executive Director at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board.

#### ≪ Receipts

- An itemized receipt must be submitted for all expenditures, if receipts are normally available for the type of expense incurred. For example, receipts are normally available for meals, parking and taxi fare, but not from a doorman or bellhop. Credit card or cash summary receipts that do not itemize expenses may not be accepted.
- A receipt from a travel agent is **not** acceptable for transportation expenditures. Rather, individuals must submit a ticket stub or passenger receipt from the carrier.
- > If a receipt includes expenses for another individual, the relationship of the other individual to the System will determine whether the expense will be paid by the System.
  - For example, if one trustee pays for meals for several trustees, such that the expenditure would have been reimbursable if it had been paid individually by the other trustees, the entire expenditure would be reimbursable to the trustee who paid for the meals. The trustee who paid for the meals should indicate on the receipt the names of the individuals for whom the expenses were incurred and their relationship to the System.
  - On the other hand, if a receipt includes an expenditure for the meal of a trustee's spouse or guest, an adjustment should be made to exclude that expense and so noted on the receipt.

#### S Payable Days

Payable expenses may be incurred during one-day traveling to and one-day traveling from an approved conference or meeting, and while in attendance at the conference or meeting. In cases where a trustee or employee intends to request payment for an extended stay, such individual must submit to the Executive Director, at least 48 hours prior to traveling to the conference or meeting, a written statement detailing the savings to the System resulting from the extended stay. Within 24 hours after receipt of any such written

statement, the Executive Director shall notify the trustee or employee that such written statement: (1) appears in compliance with the Travel Policy and will be recommended for final approval; (2) raises issues or concerns that will need to be resolved by the Board or appropriate committee of the Board responsible for administering this Travel Policy (the "Committee"). The Committee shall be appointed by the Chairperson of the Board and shall be representative of the Board in composition.

Expenses incurred as the result of an individual's extended stay which exceed the limits of this Travel Policy will not be payable by the System.

## ⋄ Transportation Expenses

- > Payable transportation expenses will be the lesser of reasonable coach airfare or, if alternative transportation is utilized, the actual cost of alternative transportation.
- > Payable transportation expenses will include the cost of public transportation to and from the airport or the cost of long-term airport parking.
- > In cases where individuals use automobiles which they own or lease, payable cost will be determined by actual miles driven on the most direct route at the current mileage rate permitted by the Internal Revenue Code. Expenses incurred as the result of a detour taken voluntarily by the individual will not be paid by the System.
- > Generally, car rental fees will not be paid by the System; however, the System will reimburse an individual for car rental fees for the days of a conference plus arrival and departure days in the event of an unusual situation where renting a car will result in lower overall cost than alternative transportation, such as taxis or shuttle buses. In cases where an individual is requesting reimbursement for car rental expenditures, such individual must comply with the procedures set forth above regarding additional day's stays to establish that the overall cost of renting a car will be less costly than available alternative transportation.

## Personal Expenses

Generally, expenses of a personal nature, such as recreational expenditures or additional expenses incurred on behalf of a spouse or guest, are *not* reimbursable. However, reasonable expenses for long distance telephone calls to an individual's family and employer shall be paid by the System and shall not be included under any maximum daily living expense allowance established by the Board. To provide additional guidance regarding "reasonable" long distance telephone expenses, the Board would deem it reasonable for individuals to call their families and employers once a day during their absences; however, lengthy or numerous long distance telephone calls should be explained in writing and payment will be subject to approval by the Committee.

#### ◆ Approval Process

- > The Executive Director will conduct an initial review of Travel Expense Vouchers to assure that submitted expenditures are in compliance with the System's Travel Policy, that advances have been properly recorded, and that appropriate documentation has been included. As a part of the initial review process, the Executive Director will discuss issues of concern with the trustee or employee who submitted the voucher for payment. At the conclusion of the initial review process, the Executive Director will forward Travel Expense Vouchers to the Committee with a recommendation (a) to pay the voucher as submitted, or (b) to scrutinize specified expenditures that do not appear to be addressed by or in compliance with the System's Travel Policy.
- > The Committee will be responsible for final approval of Travel Expense Vouchers in cases where the expenditures are addressed by and in compliance with the System's Travel Policy; however, payment of expenditures that are not included as payable under the System's Travel Policy and/or reimbursement of extraordinary or unanticipated expenditures will require full Board approval.
- > In the event the Committee, or the full Board, if full Board approval is required, is unable to determine if a specific expenditure is payable, the Committee, or the Board, shall obtain advice from the System's legal

- counsel and/or its accounting firm to assist them in coming to an appropriate conclusion which is consistent with the spirit of the Travel Policy and applicable law.
- > With respect to the payment of travel expenses, the decision of the Committee, or the Board, as the case may be, will be final.

## **Code of Ethics Policy**

The Uniform Management of Public Employee Retirement Systems Act (UMPERSA) defines a trustee as a person having ultimate authority to manage a retirement system or to invest or manage its assets. Section 7 of the Act describes General Fiduciary Duties as follows:

"A trustee or other fiduciary shall discharge duties with respect to a retirement system:

- (1) solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries;
- (2) for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and beneficiaries and paying reasonable expenses of administering the system;
- (3) with the care, skill and caution under the circumstances then prevailing which a prudent person acting in like capacity and familiar with those matters would use in the conduct of an activity of like character and purpose;
- (4) impartially, taking into account any differing interests of participants and beneficiaries;
- (5) incurring only costs that are appropriate and reasonable; and
- (6) in accordance with a good-faith interpretation of the law governing the retirement program and system."

It is a trustee's duties of loyalty and care to the participants and beneficiaries of the System that create standards prohibiting conflicts of interest and requiring trustees and employees to act with the highest level of ethical responsibility in the performance of their duties. This Code of Ethics Policy addresses conflicts of interest and situations that can appear to be conflicts of interest from two perspectives: (a) as they relate directly to trustees and employees of the System, and (b) as they relate to the professionals employed by the System, such as investment consultants, money managers, brokerage firms, insurance brokers, attorneys, auditors, actuaries, custodians, etc.

## ⋄ Trustees and Employees

Trustees and employees, by their conduct, shall not create a reasonable basis for the impression or perception that any person, organization or firm can influence them in the performance of their official acts or actions. In this regard, any trustee/employee relationship or association with a current or prospective vendor must be directly beneficial to the System, or must be reasonably expected to provide the trustee or employee with educational assistance that will be immediately relevant to his/her duties to the System. A trustee's duty of loyalty also includes the obligation not to be influenced by the interest of any third party, including an obligation to subjugate the interests of the party who appointed the trustee, for example, the union or plan sponsor, to the interests of the participants and beneficiaries of the System.

## Gifts and Gratuities

• Trustees and employees shall not solicit or accept contributions or gifts (to include lodging, transportation, or invitations to social/sporting events) from any single current or prospective vendor which exceed a value totaling \$50 in any calendar year. Trustees and employees shall disclose on the Annual Disclosure Statement any and all contributions or gifts (to include lodging, transportation, or invitations to social/sporting events) that were extended to a relative, spouse or guest of the Trustee or employee. However, the limitation on gifts does not apply:

- a) to business meals/receptions where a representative of the vendor is present for the purpose of conducting business or providing education,
- b) to seminars/conferences sponsored by a vendor or prospective vendor where attendance is approved by the Board of Trustees or the System's Travel Policy,
- c) to participation in recreational or social events while attending a seminar/conference, provided said events are available to a majority of the seminar/conference attendees,
- d) to participation in recreational or social events sponsored by a vendor or prospective vendor provided attendance is expected to benefit the System and provided attendance is reported on the trustee's/employee's Annual Disclosure Statement.
- Trustees and employees shall not solicit or accept contributions or gifts from current or prospective vendors for their own personal benefit or in behalf of any third party.
- Trustees and employees shall not solicit or accept contributions or gifts from current or prospective vendors if they know, or reasonably should know, that such contributions or gifts are intended to influence their actions or decisions with respect to the System.
- If a trustee or employee receives an unsolicited, prohibited contribution or gift, he/she should return such contribution or gift to the source; however, if returning the contribution or gift is not possible or feasible, the contribution or gift should be donated to a charitable organization.

## > Personal Investments/Obligations

Trustees and employees shall not make personal investments, engage in transactions or professional activities, or incur obligations of any nature which would create, or which the trustee or employee should reasonably foresee would create, a substantial interest in a business, contract, property, or investment that would result in a significant or continuing conflict of interest, or the appearance of a conflict of interest, with the System.

## > Confidential Information

Trustees and employees shall not use confidential information pertaining to the System, or confidential information obtained by reason of their position with the System, for the purpose of personal gain or gain for a third party, nor, except as may be required by law, shall they disclose confidential information pertaining to the System to any person not authorized by the Board to receive such confidential information.

## Nepotism

On the basis of objective qualifications and competitive cost, the System may elect to hire or retain the relative of a trustee or employee; however, it will be incumbent upon the trustee or employee to disclose such a relationship to the Board as early in the evaluation and selection process as is reasonably possible.

#### > Annual Disclosure Statement

- No later than January 31st each year, every trustee and employee of the System shall complete an Annual Disclosure Statement (sample attached) which will be received by and maintained in the Retirement Office for a period of at least five (5) years.
- The Executive Director will include information on Trustees and employees that are in noncompliance with the Annual Disclosure Statement at the first regularly scheduled meeting of the Board each year, usually in February, under the Report of the Executive Director.
- A trustee or employee who fails to file an Annual Disclosure Statement by January 31st, or who violates
  the System's Code of Ethics Policy, will be subject to sanctions, at the discretion of the Board, up to

and including removal from office or employment termination.

#### ≪ Vendors

At the time a vendor is hired/retained, and thereafter, on or about November 1st each year, every vendor who conducts business with the System will receive a copy of the System's Code of Ethics Policy. Vendor copies will contain a form to be returned to the System on which vendors will acknowledge receipt and acceptance of the System's Policy. If the System learns that a vendor has violated the Code of Ethics Policy without a prior written waiver from the Board, the vendor's contract will be terminated and the vendor will not be eligible to do business with the System for a period of at least two (2) years.

## **DOCUMENT RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION POLICY**

(As Adopted June 21, 2021)

## **Authority and Purpose**

- This <u>Document Retention and Destruction Policy</u> for the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis ("Retirement System" or "Board") identifies the record retention responsibilities of employees and staff in relation to the Retirement System's documents/records.
- 2. Under the Board's enabling statute, the Board may establish rules and regulations for the administration of the Retirement System, which includes but is not limited to, maintenance and disposal of records under its control. § 169.450.8, R.S.Mo.
- 3. This Document Retention and Destruction Policy is intended to establish timeframes for the retention and destruction of Retirement System records for the orderly and efficient operation of the Retirement System.

## **Policy Objectives**

- 4. The objectives of the policy are to ensure that the Retirement System:
  - a. Properly maintains its records for the appropriate time period; and
  - b. Properly destroys records once the appropriate time period has passed; and
  - c. Staff is apprised of the retention periods and destruction method for the records entrusted to their care.

#### **Record Definition**

- 5. As used in this policy the term "record", shall, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, mean any document, book, paper, photograph, sound recording or other material, regardless of physical form or characteristics (including electronic mail and other electronically stored documents), made or received pursuant to law or in connection with the transaction of official business.
- 6. Any other artifact not incorporated into the definition of a "record" shall be a "nonrecord" and not subject to document retention as outlined by this policy. Nonrecords shall include material made or acquired and preserved solely for reference, extra copies of documents preserved only for convenience or reference, other materials that do not record the position of the Retirement System, and stocks of publications and of processed documents which are not included in the definition of "record" and not treated as a record.

# Litigation Holds

- 7. Whenever the Retirement System learns that litigation against the Retirement System is reasonably anticipated, threatened or pending, the Executive Director shall notify the Retirement System's Legal Advisor. The Legal Advisor will inform the Executive Director which documents should be held.
- 8. The litigation hold applies to electronic and hard copy documents including email correspondence, work drafts, notes, memoranda, correspondence, photographs, videotape recordings and other documents

pertaining to the litigation as determined by the Legal Advisor. All documents pertaining to the litigation in the possession of the Retirement System must be preserved until the later of (i) the applicable time period set forth for preservation of the record under these guidelines, or (ii) the date the Legal Advisor informs the Retirement System that the litigation hold is no longer in effect.

## Timelines for Document/Record Retention

If a document/record falls into two or more different timelines below, the document/record should be kept for the longer period of time applicable to the document/record.

- 1. <u>Permanent Documents/Records</u>: These documents/records must be retained permanently by the Retirement System:
  - a. Governance Records
    - i. Minutes of all Board meetings, including regular and committee meetings.
    - ii. Rules and Regulations of the Retirement System, including any and all documents (such as policies) incorporated by reference.
    - iii. Newsletters
    - iv. Board Resolutions
    - v. Bylaws and other organizational documents/records.
    - vi. Plan records and documents incorporated therein by reference.
    - vii. Member Handbooks
    - viii. Retirement Guides
    - ix. Administrative Procedures for Charter Schools handbook
    - x. Annual certifications of amount to be paid to Retirement System
    - xi. Documents/records related to purchase/sale of real property, such as purchase agreements, deeds, purchase price and cost of all permanent improvements.
    - xii. Important legal documents/records.
    - xiii. Actuarial Reports.
    - xiv. Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).
    - xv. Auditor financial reports.
    - xvi. Notarized documents/records
    - xvii. Stock certificates
    - xviii. Election certification letters issued by Trustee Election Commissioner
    - xix. Trustee certifications issued by Circuit Clerk
    - xx. Documents/records that cannot be clearly, accurately or completely transferred to an electronic recordkeeping system.
  - b. IRS and Audit Documents and Related Records
    - i. IRS tax exemption determination letters and related correspondence.
    - ii. Audits and investigations performed by any private entity, state or federal agency, including, but not limited to the IRS or State Auditor.
  - c. Member Records
    - i. The following records will be kept permanently in an electronically imaged format. Paper copies of the following records will be retained for at least five (5) years following the Member's death or the last payment made to the Member's beneficiary.
      - 1. All documents/records which substantiate a Member's benefit such as reports, hours submitted on the Member's behalf, pension benefit statements, employer

- paycheck stubs, employer payroll records, marital status records, age and service records that are used to determine eligibility, vesting, and benefits, etc.
- 2. Support orders and tax levies.
- 3. Death certificates.
- 4. Beneficiary designations and election forms.
- 5. Any documents/records related to any benefit denials and any appeals related thereto.
- 6. Applications and enrollment documentation/records.
- 2. Government Filings: These documents/records must be retained by the Retirement System for at least seven (7) years following the end of the plan year during which the document/record was filed with the applicable government agency:
  - a. Paper copies of any Federal, state and local tax returns and all supporting documentation. Electronic copies of any Federal, state and local tax returns will be permanently maintained.
  - b. All documents/records required to be filed with the IRS or State of Missouri and all supporting documentation if such documents/records are not specifically set out with a longer retention period herein.
- 3. <u>Contracts, Insurance and Investments</u>: These documents/records must be retained by the Retirement System for at least ten (10) years following their termination date or in the case of insurance claims and accident reports, at least ten (10) years following the resolution of the matter:
  - a. Service provider contracts
  - b. Investment documents/records
  - c. Insurance policies, accident reports and claims
  - e. Lease agreements
  - f. Bonds
- 4. Financial Records: The following records must be kept for at least seven (7) years:
  - a. Accounts payable
  - b. Credit Card Statements (and itemized receipts for each credit card charge)
  - c. Paid and cancelled checks
  - d. Expense reports
  - e. Bank records (including statements and bank deposit slips)
  - f. Receipts and cash disbursement journals
  - g. Vendor invoices
  - h. Vouchers for expenditures
  - i. Internal financial reports and statements
- 5. Request for Proposals: The following records must be kept for at least seven (7) years:
  - a. Request for proposals
  - b. Responses of unsuccessful bidders to request for proposals (responses by successful bidders will be kept for at least ten years after the life of the contract pursuant to #3 above)
- 6. <u>Trustee Election Records:</u> The following records must be kept for at least seven (7) years:
  - a. All records relating to the election of Trustees pursuant to § 169.450.1, R.S.Mo., such as form ballot and instructions, completed ballots, candidate biographies (other than the election

certification letters issued by Trustee Election Commissioner and the certifications issued by Circuit Clerk, which as noted above under #1, will be kept permanently)

## 7. <u>Employee Document/Records</u>:

- a. *FLSA and Missouri Unemployment Records* The following documents/records must be kept for at least seven (7) years from the date of the last data entry for the employee.
  - i. Regular rate of pay and its calculation.
  - ii. Hours worked each workday and workweek, including substantiating documentation/records such as time cards, piecework records and earnings records.
  - iii. Straight-time earnings and overtime earnings.
  - iv. Wage attachment or garnishment records shall be retained for as long as the attachment or garnishment remains active and for at least an additional seven (7) years.
  - v. Inclusion and exclusions from wages (such as bonuses, withheld taxes, garnishments, etc.).
  - vi. Date of payment and the period covered.
- b. Other Employee/Employment Records The following documents/records should be retained for at least seven (7) years following the employee's termination date:
  - i. Employee's names, addresses, social security number, date of birth, and occupation.
  - ii. Employee's date of hire and termination/separation.
  - iii. I-9s, W-2s, 1099s, and other government forms completed related to the employee's employment.
  - iv. Employee's time and payroll records.
  - v. Documentation/records related to resume/application materials, job descriptions, hiring and termination/separation, evaluations, compensation information, promotions, transfers, disciplinary matters, leave/comp time/FMLA.
  - vi. Any other documents not referenced above that is contained in an Employee's personnel file.
- c. Records including injury logs and workers' compensation records will be retained according to the "Contracts, Insurance, and Investments" section of this policy for ten (10) years following the resolution of the matter.
- d. Reimbursement payments to the Board and Staff members shall be retained for four (4) years.
- e. *Independent Contractor Records* Documents/records which set out the basis or prove independent contractor status, contracts, written agreements, etc., must be retained for at least four (4) years following the independent contractor's departure date.
- 8. Other Records: Any documents/records not falling into any of the categories set out above must be kept for at least seven (7) years from the end of the last plan year when they were last in effect.
- 9. <u>Exceptions</u>: Exceptions to these rules and terms for retention may be granted only by the Executive Director or Board of Trustees.

## **Destruction of Documents/Records**

Any documents/records relating to the Retirement System, which contain confidential information for the Retirement System, or any individually identifiable information or protected health information for the Retirement System's

Members, beneficiaries or dependents, such as names, addresses, telephone numbers, social security numbers, dates of birth, member numbers, etc. should be destroyed in such a way as to render the documents/records completely unreadable, unusable and unable to be restored, such as through shredding, burning, etc. for paper documents/records and clearing the data off electronic media in such a way that it cannot be recovered. It is never acceptable to dispose of documents/records containing protected health information, individually identifiable information or confidential information by disposing of the documents/records in dumpsters or other containers that are accessible by the public or other unauthorized persons.

Electronic media containing confidential information, protected health information, or individually identifiable information should not be sold or given to third parties or disposed of in a way where it is usable even if it is believed all such information has been removed from the electronic media. Oftentimes remnants of information originally stored on electronic media remain even after steps have been taken to erase the data; thus, once the Retirement System is done with the electronic media on which the protected health information, individually identifiable information or confidential information was stored, the electronic media should be destroyed in such a way it is rendered unusable.

Anytime a third party is used to destroy documents/records/electronic media, the Retirement System should obtain written certification from the third party that the documents/records/ electronic media were property destroyed.

Examples of confidential information include legal documents/records, bank documents/records, etc.

## Electronic Storage for Paper Documents/Records

Except as otherwise stated herein, certain paper documents/records can be converted to electronic format and the original paper version of the document/record destroyed. The following rules will be followed in relation to converting paper documents/records into electronic documents/records:

- a. The Retirement System shall at all times maintain a record keeping system that has reasonable controls to ensure the integrity, accuracy, authenticity and reliability of any electronic documents/records. The Retirement System's electronic documents/records must be maintained in a secure storage environment and must have back-ups created regularly. The Retirement System must have a quality assurance program that includes regular evaluations of the electronic recordkeeping system to ensure electronic documents/records continue to be safely stored and retrievable.
- b. The Retirement System must maintain proper controls to ensure paper documents/records that are scanned and electronically stored will not be altered from their original form. The Retirement System must maintain any paper copies of documents/records that cannot be clearly, accurately, or completely transferred to an electronic version. No employee may alter any scanned electronic document/record. All paper documents/records scanned and stored electronically, must remain unaltered.
- c. The Retirement System must maintain the electronic documents/records in a reasonable order and in a safe and accessible place and in such a way that they can be readily inspected or examined.
- d. The Retirement System must maintain the electronic documents/records in such a way that they are readily convertible into legible and readable paper copies.
- e. The Retirement System must ensure the electronic record keeping system is not subject to any restriction that would compromise any person's ability to comply with any reporting or disclosure requirement under the law.
- f. Once the originals of certain documents/records have been scanned and stored electronically, the originals can be destroyed except where the original documents/records have legal significance or inherent value or cannot be stored adequately in electronic format such as in the following instances:

- i. Notarized documents/records
- ii. Stock certificates
- iii. Original signed governance documents/records
- iv. Original signed real estate documents/records such as purchase and sale agreements and real estate deeds
- v. Documents/records that cannot be clearly, accurately or completely transferred to an electronic recordkeeping system.

# POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR LOCATING MISSING MEMBER DATA AND MISSING MEMBERS/BENEFICIARIES

As Adopted October 24, 2022

<u>Policy</u>: It is the policy of the Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis ("PSRSSTL" or "Fund") to ensure that where feasible, member records are complete and members/beneficiaries entitled to benefits receive same. The Board of Trustees for the PSRSSTL adopts the following procedures for locating missing members/beneficiaries.

<u>Procedures</u>: The following procedures have been created to locate missing member data and missing members/beneficiaries:

- 1. <u>Missing Member Data</u>: The Fund's records pertaining to a member should contain, at a minimum, the member's full name, address, telephone number (either cell or home), Social Security number, date of birth, marital status, and beneficiary designation. If a member is married, the Fund's records should also contain the spouse's full name. The Fund is entitled to rely on any data already contained in its files as accurate until such time as the Fund has actual knowledge that its records are inaccurate. In the event the Fund's records do not contain the minimum data identified above, or it has come to the Fund's attention that any item of said data is inaccurate, the Fund or its designated representative will, to the extent it is reasonable under the circumstances to do so, perform the following steps to locate the missing data:
  - a. The first step in locating missing member data will be to contact the member and request the missing data. If the Fund has a telephone number on file for the member, a call will be made to the member to obtain the missing data. If the member cannot be reached by telephone, a certified letter will be sent to the member requesting the missing data, to the extent an address is available in the Fund's files and said action is reasonable given the circumstances.
  - b. If the data cannot be obtained from the member using step (a) above and it is reasonable in the circumstances to do so, reasonable attempts will be made to obtain a valid address or telephone number for the member by contacting one or more of the following parties (to the extent the parties are known to the Fund):
    - i. contributing employer(s) for whom the member worked;
    - ii. beneficiary named by the member on any beneficiary designation form filed with the Fund;
    - iii. the applicable local affiliate of the American Federation of Teachers;
    - iv. the Missouri Retired Teachers Association and Public School Personnel (MRTA); and
    - v. any other employee benefit plan in which the member/beneficiary participated that is permitted to release the information under applicable law.

If any of the above sources are reluctant to release the above information, the Fund may seek to have any of the above sources contact the member directly or forward a letter to the member from the Fund. If a potential telephone number for the member is obtained, then the Fund will attempt to call the member to obtain the missing data. If the member cannot be reached by telephone, and a potential address is obtained for the member from one of the sources listed above, a certified letter will be sent to the member at the alternate address requesting the missing data to the extent it is reasonable under the circumstances to do so.

- c. If the data cannot be obtained using steps (a) or (b) above and it is reasonable given the circumstances to do so, reasonable attempts will be made to search for missing member data using Internet search tools that do not charge a fee. Such online services include Internet search engines, public record databases (such as those for licenses, mortgages and real estate taxes), obituaries and social media.
- d. If the data cannot be obtained using steps (a)-(c) above, the Fund or its designated representative will evaluate whether and to what extent additional search steps, including Internet search tools, commercial locator services, credit reporting agencies, information brokers, investigation databases and analogous services that involve charges, are appropriate and should be used in searching for the missing member data.

In evaluating whether and to what extent steps (a) thru (d) above should be performed, the Fund or its designated representative will take into consideration the type of data that is missing, the size of a member's account balance, the labor and cost involved in performing the applicable steps, as well as any other circumstances deemed relevant to the evaluation.

- 2. <u>Missing Members/Beneficiaries</u>: If a member/beneficiary who is entitled to receive a benefit payment cannot be located, the PSRSSTL will take the following steps to locate the member/beneficiary, but only to the extent each step is reasonable given the circumstances:
  - a. The first step in locating a missing member/beneficiary will be to attempt to contact the member/beneficiary using the information in the Fund's files. If a telephone number is on file for the member/beneficiary, the Fund will attempt to call the member/beneficiary. If the member/beneficiary cannot be reached by telephone, a certified letter will be sent to the member/beneficiary notifying him/her that a benefit may be available from the Fund, to the extent an address is available in the Fund's files and said action is reasonable given the circumstances.
  - b. If the member/beneficiary cannot be located using (a) above and it is reasonable given the circumstances to do so, the Fund will make reasonable attempts to obtain a valid address or telephone number for the member/beneficiary by contacting the following parties (to the extent the parties are known to the Fund):
    - i. contributing employer(s) for whom the member worked;
    - ii. beneficiary named by the member on any beneficiary designation form filed with the Fund;
    - iii. the applicable local affiliate of the American Federation of Teachers;
    - iv. the Missouri Retired Teachers Association and Public School Personnel (MRTA); and
    - v. any other employee benefit plan in which the member/beneficiary participated that is permitted to release the information under applicable law.

If any of the above sources are reluctant to release the above information, the Fund may seek to have any of the above sources contact the member/beneficiary directly or forward a letter to the member/beneficiary from the Fund. If a potential telephone number for the member/beneficiary is obtained, then the Fund will attempt to call the member/beneficiary to notify him/her that a benefit may be available from the Fund. If the member/beneficiary cannot be reached by telephone, and a potential address for the member/beneficiary is obtained from one of the sources listed above, a certified letter will be sent to the member/beneficiary at the alternate address notifying him/her that

a benefit may be available from the Fund, to the extent it is reasonable under the circumstances to do so.

- c. If the information cannot be obtained through (a) or (b) above and it is reasonable given the circumstances to do so, the Fund will make reasonable use of internet search tools that do not charge a fee to search for the missing member/beneficiary. Such online services include internet search engines, public record databases (such as those for licenses, mortgages and real estate taxes), obituaries and social media.
- d. If steps (a)-(c) above have been followed and the member/beneficiary could not be found, the Fund or its designee will evaluate whether and to what extent additional search steps, including internet search tools, commercial locator services, credit reporting agencies, information brokers, investigation databases and analogous services that involve charges, are appropriate in searching for the missing member/beneficiary. In evaluating whether to use additional search steps to locate a missing member/beneficiary, the Fund or its designee will take into consideration the size of the member/beneficiary's account balance and the cost of further search efforts.

In evaluating whether and to what extent steps (a) thru (d) above should be performed, the trustees or their designated representative will take into consideration the size of a member/beneficiary's account balance, the labor and cost involved in performing the applicable steps, as well as any other circumstances deemed relevant to the evaluation.

If after taking steps (a)-(d) above, where appropriate under the circumstances, the member/beneficiary could not be found and the benefit payment is left unclaimed, and if no estate can be found to have been opened, then the accumulated contributions shall escheat to the State of Missouri in compliance with applicable law.

(Appendix A, Revised 10-24-22)

# Public School Retirement System of the City of St. Louis Expense and Contingency Reserve Policy

The amount to be held in the Expense and Contingency Reserve should be re-determined as of each January 1. The amount of the Reserve should consist of an expense reserve and an investment contingency reserve. Effective January 1, 1996, the Reserve will be determined as follows:

# The expense portion should be the sum of

- 1. The estimated annual operating expenses for the ensuing year;
- 2. An amount equal to the liability for non-insurance supplements;
- 3. An amount equal to the liability for insurance supplements for those members participating in the program on January 1; and
- 4. The estimated amount of insurance supplements to be paid for members expected to retire and participate in the program during the ensuing year.

The investment contingency portion of the Reserve is intended to cover significant shortfalls in the rate of return, not small shortfalls. When a significant negative deviation occurs, the Reserve will be used to reduce the shortfall. If on the other hand, the assumed rate of return is exceeded by a significant amount, a portion of the excess return will be added to the investment contingency portion of the Reserve.

The Reserve to be adjusted as follows:

#### In the case of a shortfall

- 1. If the shortfall is less than 1%, no adjustment is made.
- 2. If the shortfall is between 1% and 2%, then the Reserve is reduced by one-half the amount of the shortfall.
- 3. If the shortfall exceeds 2%, then the Reserve is reduced an amount equal to the amount by which the rate of return falls short of the assumed rate of return less 1%. (For example, if the assumed rate is 6.5%, the actual rate is 4%, then the Reserve is reduced by amount equal to 1.5%. In this case, the rate of return after supplement from the Reserve would be equal to 5.5%.)
- 4. If the investment contingency portion of the Reserve is insufficient to meet the requirement in 2 or 3, then the reduction in the Reserve is equal to the investment contingency portion of the Reserve.

#### In case of excess return

- 1. If the rate of return does not exceed the assumed rate by at least 1%, then no addition is made to the Reserve.
- 2. If the rate of return exceeds the assumed rate by between 1% and 2%, then the Reserve is increased by one-half the amount of excess return.
- 3. If the rate of return exceeds the assumed rate by more than 2%, then the Reserve is increased by the amount by which the rate of return exceeds the assumed rate of return plus 1%.

The amount added to the reserve under 2 and 3 is subject to a maximum. The maximum amount of the investment contingency portion of the Reserve is equal to 5% of the market value of the Retirement Fund.

(Appendix B, Revised 10-19-09)